
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Children's 
Services 
Scrutiny 
Committee 

Date: Monday, 19th June, 2006 

Time: 10.00 a.m. 

Place: 
The Council Chamber, 
Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford 

Notes: Please note the time, date and venue of 
the meeting. 

For any further information please contact: 

Paul James, Members' Services Tel: 01432 
260460 Fax: 01432 260286 

e-mail: pjames@herefordshire.gov.uk 

  
 
County of Herefordshire 
District Council 





COUNTY OF HEREFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 19TH JUNE, 2006 
 
 
 

AGENDA 
for the Meeting of the Children's Services 
Scrutiny Committee 

 
To:                   Councillor 

Councillor 
 

 
B.F. Ashton (Chairman) 
 J.P. Thomas (Vice-Chairman) 

Councillors N.J.J. Davies, G. Lucas, R.M. Manning, 
Mrs. J.E. Pemberton, Mrs. S.J. Robertson, 
D.C. Taylor, Mrs E.A. Taylor, Ms. A.M. Toon and 
W.J. Walling 

  
Church Members Mr. A. Geach (Chruch of England) and J.D. Griffin 

(Roman Catholic Church) 
  

Parent Governor Members Ms K. Fitch (Primary School Parent Governor 
Member) and Mrs. C. Woolley (Secondary School 
Parent Governors) 

  
Teacher Representatives C. Lewandowski (Secondary School teachers) 

  
Headteacher Representatives A Marson (Secondary Headteachers) and Miss S. 

Peate (Primary Sector Headteachers) 
  

  

  

 Pages 

  
   
1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE     
   
 To receive apologies for absence.  
   
2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES     
   
 To receive details any details of Members nominated to attend the meeting 

in place of a Member of the Committee. 
 

   
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST     
   
 To receive any declarations of interest by Members in respect of items on 

the Agenda. 
 

   
4. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR 

FUTURE SCRUTINY   
  

   
 To consider suggestions from members of the public on issues the 

Committee could scrutinise in the future. 
 

   
5. MINUTES   1 - 4  
   
 To approve and sign the Minutes of the meeting held on 31st May, 2006.  
   
6. PRESENTATION BY CABINET MEMBER (CHILDREN AND YOUNG 

PEOPLE)   
5 - 38  

   
 To receive a presentation by the Cabinet Member (Children and Young  



 

People) informing the Committee of policy issues affecting this programme 
area and the main priorities. 

   
7. JOINT AREA REVIEW IMPROVEMENT PLAN   39 - 80  
   
 To advise on the latest position on progress with the JAR improvement 

Plan. 
 

   
8. THE EFFECT OF HOMELESSNESS OF YOUNG PEOPLE IN 

HEREFORDSHIRE   
81 - 82  

   
 To advise on the work-in-progress to improve the experience of young 

people and families requiring suitable housing. 
 

   



PUBLIC INFORMATION 

HEREFORDSHIRE COUNCIL'S SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

The Council has established Scrutiny Committees for Adult Social Care 
and Strategic Housing, Childrens’ Services, Community Services, 
Environment, and Health.  A Strategic Monitoring Committee scrutinises 
corporate matters and co-ordinates the work of these Committees. 

The purpose of the Committees is to ensure the accountability and 
transparency of the Council's decision making process. 

The principal roles of Scrutiny Committees are to 
 

•  Help in developing Council policy 
 

• Probe, investigate, test the options and ask the difficult questions 
before and after decisions are taken 

 

• Look in more detail at areas of concern which may have been raised 
by the Cabinet itself, by other Councillors or by members of the public 

 

• "call in" decisions  - this is a statutory power which gives Scrutiny 
Committees the right to place a decision on hold pending further 
scrutiny. 

 

• Review performance of the Council 
 

• Conduct Best Value reviews  
 

• Undertake external scrutiny work engaging partners and the public  
 
Formal meetings of the Committees are held in public and information 
on your rights to attend meetings and access to information are set out 
overleaf 
 



PUBLIC INFORMATION 

Public Involvement at Scrutiny Committee Meetings 

You can contact Councillors and Officers at any time about Scrutiny 
Committee matters and issues which you would like the Scrutiny 
Committees to investigate.  

There are also two other ways in which you can directly contribute at 
Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committee meetings. 

1. Identifying Areas for Scrutiny 

At the meeting the Chairman will ask the members of the public present if 
they have any issues which they would like the Scrutiny Committee to 
investigate, however, there will be no discussion of the issue at the time 
when the matter is raised.  Councillors will research the issue and consider 
whether it should form part of the Committee’s work programme when 
compared with other competing priorities. 

Please note that the Committees can only scrutinise items which fall within 
their specific remit (see below).  If a matter is raised which falls within the 
remit of another Scrutiny Committee then it will be noted and passed on to 
the relevant Chairman for their consideration.   

2. Questions from Members of the Public for Consideration at 
Scrutiny Committee Meetings and Participation at Meetings 

You can submit a question for consideration at a Scrutiny Committee 
meeting so long as the question you are asking is directly related to an item 
listed on the agenda.  If you have a question you would like to ask then 
please submit it no later than two working days before the meeting to 
the Committee Officer.  This will help to ensure that an answer can be 
provided at the meeting.  Contact details for the Committee Officer can be 
found on the front page of this agenda.   

Generally, members of the public will also be able to contribute to the 
discussion at the meeting.  This will be at the Chairman’s discretion.   

(Please note that the Scrutiny Committees are not able to discuss 
questions relating to personal or confidential issues.) 



 
Remits of Herefordshire Council’s Scrutiny Committees 
 
Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing 
 
Statutory functions for adult social services including: 
Learning Disabilities 
Strategic Housing 
Supporting People 
Public Health 
 
Children’s Services 
 
Provision of services relating to the well-being of children including 
education, health and social care. 
 
Community Services Scrutiny Committee 
 
Libraries 
Cultural Services including heritage and tourism 
Leisure Services 
Parks and Countryside 
Community Safety 
Economic Development 
Youth Services 
 
Health 
 
Planning, provision and operation of health services affecting the area 
Health Improvement 
Services provided by the NHS 
 
Environment 
 
Environmental Issues 
Highways and Transportation 
 
Strategic Monitoring Committee 
Corporate Strategy and Finance 
Resources  
Corporate and Customer Services 
Human Resources 
 

 



The Public’s Rights to Information and Attendance at 
Meetings  
 
YOU HAVE A RIGHT TO: - 
 
 

• Attend all Council, Cabinet, Committee and Sub-Committee meetings unless the 
business to be transacted would disclose ‘confidential’ or ‘exempt’ information. 

• Inspect agenda and public reports at least five clear days before the date of the 
meeting. 

• Inspect minutes of the Council and all Committees and Sub-Committees and written 
statements of decisions taken by the Cabinet or individual Cabinet Members for up to 
six years following a meeting. 

• Inspect background papers used in the preparation of public reports for a period of up 
to four years from the date of the meeting.  (A list of the background papers to a 
report is given at the end of each report).  A background paper is a document on 
which the officer has relied in writing the report and which otherwise is not available 
to the public. 

• Access to a public Register stating the names, addresses and wards of all 
Councillors with details of the membership of Cabinet and of all Committees and 
Sub-Committees. 

• Have a reasonable number of copies of agenda and reports (relating to items to be 
considered in public) made available to the public attending meetings of the Council, 
Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees. 

• Have access to a list specifying those powers on which the Council have delegated 
decision making to their officers identifying the officers concerned by title. 

• Copy any of the documents mentioned above to which you have a right of access, 
subject to a reasonable charge (20p per sheet subject to a maximum of £5.00 per 
agenda plus a nominal fee of £1.50 for postage). 

• Access to this summary of your rights as members of the public to attend meetings of 
the Council, Cabinet, Committees and Sub-Committees and to inspect and copy 
documents. 

 

 

 



 

Please Note: 

Agenda and individual reports can be made available in large 
print.  Please contact the officer named on the front cover of this 
agenda in advance of the meeting who will be pleased to deal 
with your request. 

The Council Chamber where the meeting will be held is accessible for 
visitors in wheelchairs, for whom toilets are also available. 

A public telephone is available in the reception area. 
 
Public Transport Links 
 
 
• Public transport access can be gained to Brockington via the service runs 

approximately every half hour from the ‘Hopper’ bus station at the Tesco store in 
Bewell Street (next to the roundabout junction of Blueschool Street / Victoria Street / 
Edgar Street). 

• The nearest bus stop to Brockington is located in Old Eign Hill near to its junction 
with Hafod Road.  The return journey can be made from the same bus stop. 

 
 
 
 
 
If you have any questions about this agenda, how the Council works or would like more 
information or wish to exercise your rights to access the information described above, 
you may do so either by telephoning the officer named on the front cover of this agenda 
or by visiting in person during office hours (8.45 a.m. - 5.00 p.m. Monday - Thursday 
and 8.45 a.m. - 4.45 p.m. Friday) at the Council Offices, Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, 
Hereford. 

 

 

 

 

 
Where possible this agenda is printed on paper made from 100% Post-Consumer waste. De-

inked without bleaching and free from optical brightening agents (OBA). Awarded the 

Nordic Swan for low emissions during production and the Blue Angel environmental label. 

 



 

COUNTY OF HEREFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 

BROCKINGTON, 35 HAFOD ROAD, HEREFORD. 
 
 
 

FIRE AND EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 
 
 

 

In the event of a fire or emergency the alarm bell will ring 
continuously. 

You should vacate the building in an orderly manner through the 
nearest available fire exit. 

You should then proceed to Assembly Point J which is located at 
the southern entrance to the car park.  A check will be undertaken 
to ensure that those recorded as present have vacated the 
building following which further instructions will be given. 

Please do not allow any items of clothing, etc. to obstruct any of 
the exits. 

Do not delay your vacation of the building by stopping or returning 
to collect coats or other personal belongings. 
 



COUNTY OF HEREFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

MINUTES of the meeting of Children's Services Scrutiny 
Committee held at The Council Chamber, Brockington, 35 
Hafod Road, Hereford on Wednesday, 31st May, 2006 at 
10.00 a.m. 

Present: Councillor J.P. Thomas (Vice Chairman) 

Councillors N.J.J. Davies, G. Lucas, R.M. Manning, 
Mrs. J.E. Pemberton, Mrs. S.J. Robertson, D.C. Taylor, 
Mrs E.A. Taylor, Ms. A.M. Toon and W.J. Walling 

Parent Governor 
Members

Mrs. C. Woolley (Secondary School Parent Governors)

Teacher 
Representatives

C. Lewandowski (Secondary School teachers) 

  
In attendance: Councillors A.C.R. Chappell, D.W. Rule MBE (Cabinet Member - 

Children and Young People) and R.M. Wilson
  
  

COUNCILLOR J.P. THOMAS IN THE CHAIR. 

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
  
 Apologies were received from Mr A. Geach, Mr A. Marson, Miss S. Peate and 

Councillor B.F. Ashton (Chairman).
  
2. NAMED SUBSTITUTES  
  
 There were no named substitutes.
  
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
  
 There were no declarations of interest.
  
4. MINUTES  
  

RESOLVED: That the minutes of the meeting held on 13th March, 2006 be 
approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 

  
5. SUGGESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC ON ISSUES FOR FUTURE 

SCRUTINY  
  
 No suggestions for areas of scrutiny were received from the public.
  
6. BRIEFING ON REVISED MANAGEMENT ARRANGEMENTS AND STRUCTURE 

IN CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE'S DIRECTORATE  
  
 The Committee was briefed on the purpose and details of the revised management 

arrangements and structure in the Children and Young People’s Directorate and 

AGENDA ITEM 5

1



CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WEDNESDAY, 31ST MAY, 2006 

progress to date. 

The Director of Children’s Services outlined the various objectives of the change and 
highlighted that the revised senior management structure would enable an 
appropriate response to be made to national initiatives; enable an integrated 
approach to the three core functions of the directorate, which now included the Youth 
Service and strengthening the links to the Connexions Service, and enable third tier 
officers to mature as leaders and develop their particular service areas. 

During debate the following principal points were noted: 

• responding to questions concerning the number of changes to post titles the 
Director explained that these reflected the range of the post holders portfolios 
and she briefly outlined the core activities for the three Heads of Service.  
She emphasised that there would be close co-ordination between the Service 
areas. 

• to further develop the links with the Primary Care Trust (PCT) and other 
partners, a “Children’s Trust Office” would be responsible for joint planning 
and commissioning. 

• the role of school nurses would develop under the management of the PCT, 
however, nurses would be part of any multidisciplinary team working co-
ordinated by the Council. 

• The Children and Young People’s Partnership Board will include sub-groups 
to ensure multi-agency input. 

• the Accommodation Board was aware that ideally second and third tier staff 
should be co-located. 

Responding to the invitation to comment on desired outcomes from the revised 
structure the Committee indicated that it wished to see:

• Clearer pathways – between Children’s Services, in particular the CAMHS 
Service, and the PCT possibly via school nurses, through multi-agency 
access points. 

• Earlier intervention to identify Special Needs cases in pre 16 year olds. 

• Youth Service – more classes/activities for youths and an even distribution of 
services throughout the County. 

• Evidence of school activity in engaging in the Every Child Matters 
programme. 

• Continued staff development, including ensuring that staff “own the message” 
under the new agenda and a further development of the working relationship 
with the PCT. 

• Swift and appropriate action, particularly when “Staying Safe” issues were 
identified. 

• Improved monitoring of transition planning for all young people with learning 
difficulties and disabilities (referred to in subsequent Minute No 7). 

• Improved suitable housing for young people and families. 

RESOLVED: that the new arrangements be noted and the Cabinet Member 
(Children and Young People) be advised of the desired 
outcomes, identified above, that the Committee would wish to 
see from the revised management arrangements. 

  

2



CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WEDNESDAY, 31ST MAY, 2006 

7. SAFEGUARDING CHILDREN IN HEREFORDSHIRE  
  
 The Committee received an update on ‘Staying Safe’ improvements since the Joint 

Area Review (JAR) and were advised on the criminal record policy and practice 
locally.  The Committee commented on progress on the JAR improvement plan and 
best practice procedures for criminal records checks. 

The Director of Children’s Services reported that the JAR action plan, considered by 
Cabinet on 30th March, appended to the agenda report, was being revised to ensure 
that it was more focused for managers and staff and that the DfES was content that 
it was more robust.  The latest progress against the JAR action plan (as at 19.5.05) 
was also appended to the report.  A final response to the Action Plan was expected 
from the Social Care Inspectorate and DfES.  However, the Director commented that 
the feedback received from them so far indicated that progress had been made and 
that the Service was unlikely to be subject to intervention.  The Service may, 
however, be subject to assistance in maintaining ‘sustained improvement’. 

During the course of debate the following principal points were noted: 

• The Committee would be kept up to date with the JAR Action Plan.  The final 
JAR Action Plan would be included in the Council’s Annual Performance 
Assessment. 

• Responding to questions on JAR recommendation 6 (concerning staff 
training/implementation of Child Concern Model) a local network of 
multidisciplinary ‘consultants’ had worked on revising the Child Concern 
Model and were available to advise e.g. schools, on issues of concern.  A 
team of lead consultants were available to fast-track issues of concern and 
provide training. 

• Baseline data would be established.  Success would be measured by 
reference to newly set targets, determined by reference to the revised 
threshold criteria, for a number of key performance indicators.  Performance 
would be reported to Committee at appropriate stages.  

• While acknowledging that improvements had been made in Housing 
Services, including undertaking increased levels of mediation work (JAR 
recommendation 16 – improve housing provision for both single young 
people and families) concern was expressed in relation to the welfare of 
children in homelessness families.   

• Responding to concerns over transition planning for all young people with 
learning difficulties and disabilities and the Committee’s wish to see a 
comprehensive approach to the issue, the Director of Children’s Services 
reported that this issue was part of a scrutiny review being undertaken by the 
Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing Scrutiny Committee.  The 
Committee would be kept informed of progress with the review. 

• All objectives in plans and strategies would be cascaded down to staff 
through the Staff Review and Development programme and, for this year, 
through the Directorate Plan. 

RESOLVED: That  
a) the report and progress detailed in the JAR Improvement 

Action Plan and Summary Progress Report (date: 19.05.06) 
be noted; 

b) the Director of Children’s Services convey to the Cabinet 
Member (Children and Young People) the Committee’s 
concern regarding suitable housing for young people and 

3



CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WEDNESDAY, 31ST MAY, 2006 

young people and families experiencing homelessness; and 

c) the Committee be kept informed of progress with the 
transition planning aspect of the scrutiny review being 
undertaken by the Adult Social Care and Strategic Housing 
Scrutiny Committee of Services for people with a learning 
disability. 

  
8. TO CONSIDER A SCRUTINY REVIEW OF BEHAVIOUR AND DISCIPLINE 

MANAGEMENT IN SCHOOLS  
  
 The Committee considered a draft scoping statement for a scrutiny review of 

behaviour and discipline management in schools. 

The Committee considered that the review should include: 

• obtaining comparable benchmark evidence of behaviour; 

• consideration of instances of low-level annoyance in schools, which 
contributed to the interruption on lessons and school life. 

• the Health and Safety issue of employers towards employees. 

• all schools in the County. 

• highlighting local examples of best practice. 

The Committee noted that aspects of the new Education and Inspections Bill 2006 
may be relevant to the review. 

RESOLVED: That 
a) Subject to the above considerations the focus of the review be 

approved; 

b) Following consultation with the Chairman and Vice-Chairman 
the Director of Children’s Services finalise the details of the 
scoping statement, including the timetable; and 

c) The Review Group to comprise of: 
�  Councillor B.F Ashton (as Chairman of the review) 
� Mr C. Lewandowski 
� Councillor G. Lucas 
� Councillor Mrs S.J. Robertson 
� Councillor J.P. Thomas 
� Councillor Ms A.M. Toon 
� Mrs C. Woolley 

  
The meeting ended at 11.45 a.m. CHAIRMAN

4



ENVIRONMENT SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 8TH AUGUST, 2005 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from  
Paul James, Committee Officer (Scrutiny) on 01432 260460 

 

 
CoverreportforCabinetMemberCYP0.doc  

 PRESENTATION BY CABINET MEMBER (CHILDREN 
AND YOUNG PEOPLE) 

Report By: Director of Corporate and Customer Services 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To receive a presentation by the Cabinet Member (Children and Young People) 
informing the Committee of policy issues affecting this programme area and the main 
priorities. 

Background 

2. A report from the Cabinet Member (Children and Young People) is attached. 

 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

• None 

AGENDA ITEM 6

5



6



CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 19TH JUNE, 2006 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Councillor Don Rule, Cabinet Member - 
Children's Services on 01531 633703 

 

 
CabinetMembersBriefingreport0.doc  

CABINET MEMBER BRIEFING TO CHILDRENS SERVICES 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITY: CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE 

 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To advise the Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee. 

Financial Implications 

2. Service changes will continue to be delivered on a robust invest to save basis in 
order to manage the high costs of placements for children with complex needs.  The 
Directorate budget out-turn was a significant underspend (£647 k.), however this was 
managed through largely one-off savings and the challenges ahead remain.  The 
resources for the Children’s Centre programme are limited and need to be creatively 
delivered. 

Background 

3. The Children & Young People’s Plan for Herefordshire is now published.  It sets the 
scene for change and improvement for 2006-08. 

4. The priorities map for Herefordshire is outlined on page 14 of the Plan and is 
attached as Appendix 1. 

5. The priorities for the Directorate are to demonstrate the improvements required 
following the Joint Area Review report which are outlined in the Joint Area Review 
Improvement Plan, alongside further progress in 14-19 provision, attendance and 
achievement of Looked After Children, increasing young people’s engagement in 
education, employment and training, alongside improvements in suitable housing for 
young people and families. 

6. There is a strong determination to ensure the improvements already made on 
safeguarding are sustained.  The progress on filling the social work vacancies is an 
essential ingredient in that endeavour. 

7. The outcomes identified by the Scrutiny Committee on 31st May, as important for the 
new management arrangements to deliver, will assist me as Cabinet Member in the 
testing of the planning and delivery of service changes and delivery. 

8. The Children’s Centres development programme across Herefordshire will bring a 
significant expansion of services. 

7



CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 19TH JUNE, 2006 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Councillor Don Rule, Cabinet Member - 
Children's Services on 01531 633703 

 

 
CabinetMembersBriefingreport0.doc  

9. The fostering regulation report 2006 has demonstrated significant improvements in 
standards and improved safeguarding practice.  The revised regulation inspection 
framework means another inspection in January 2007. 

Challenges 

10. There are currently 2 primary schools with notices to improve. 

11. The performance management challenge remains and the performance function in 
the Directorate will be established quickly to assist in demonstrating the grasp on 
how we are doing and what steps are needed to further improve or mitigate 
concerns. 

12. I receive a monthly report on key performance matters and the on-going scrutiny of 
the JAR improvement plan will ensure that any key issues are highlighted and 
resolved. 

13. The Children & Young People’s Partnership Board will agree governance and 
executive arrangements in July 2006.  This is a challenge but one which will be met 
with enthusiasm by the Board. 

14. The School Review programme is in progress and recommendations and further 
consultation will challenge schools to consider more formal collaboration as a model 
for sustaining local schools. 

15. The JAR improvement plan will continue to need our attention.  The Annual 
Performance Assessment of the Council’s Children’s Services will give us a 
benchmark for demonstrating the improvements in the CPA scores later in 2006.  
The DfES review report will be received prior to the Scrutiny Committee meeting and 
this will also give evidence of the determination to improve. 

16. The APA self-assessment is attached for consideration (Appendix 2). 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT Children’s Services Scrutiny Committee note the Cabinet 
Member’s report. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

None identified. 

8



 1

APPENDIX 1 

The Partnership Board’s Priorities for Improving Outcomes. 

The improvements in outcomes will be at the heart of the Herefordshire Children’s and Young 
People’s Plan.  Herefordshire’s priorities have been agreed by the Partnership Board.  These 
priorities were (2005) mapped against the Herefordshire Plan ambitions and Herefordshire Council 
objectives, as follows: 

A PRIORITIES MAP FOR CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE IN HEREFORDSHIRE 

CHANGE FOR 
CHILDREN 
AGENDA 

OUTCOMES 

THE 
HEREFORDSHIRE 
PLAN AMBITIONS 

THE COUNCIL’S 
OBJECTIVES 

CHILDREN & YOUNG 
PEOPLE PARTNERSHIP 

BOARD PRIORITIES 

CHILDREN’S 
SERVICES 

DIRECTORATE 
PRIORITIES 

• Be Healthy 
• Health & Well-

Being 

• Maximise the 
Health, Safety, 
Economic Well-
Being, 
Achievements & 
Contributions of 
Every Child 

• Improving Mental 
Health Outcomes 

• Improving Physical 
Health Outcomes 

• Improving Outcomes 
for Children with LDD 

• Stay Safe 
• Crime & Disorder 

• Poverty & Isolation 

• Promote Diversity 
& Community 
Harmony & Strive 
for Equal 
Opportunities 

• Improving Outcomes 
for Children Looked 
After 

• Further Implementation 
of the Child Concern 
Model 

• Social 
Inclusion 

• Personal 
Development 

• Child Concern 
Model 

• LPSA2 

• Enjoy & 
Achieve 

• Excellent 
Education 

• Improve the 
Achievement of 
Pupils 

• Improving standards in 
education across  

all sectors and tackling 
underachievement 

• Early Years  

• Teaching 
Quality 

• Pupil 
Achievement 

• Special 
Education 

• Making a 
Positive 
Contribution 

• Community 
Involvement  

• Improving the 
Environment 

• Develop a 
Community 
Leadership Role  

• Protect the 
Environment 

• Improving 

 Learning & 
Recreational 
Opportunities 

• Reducing Anti Social 
Behaviour 

• Cultural 
Learning & 
Community 
Development 

• Achieve 
Economic 
Well-Being 

• Business Growth 
& Jobs  

• An Active Vibrant 
place to Live 

• Sustain Vibrant & 
Prosperous 
Communities 

• Improving learning 
outcomes for 14-19 
year olds 

• 14-19 Learning 
Opportunities  

• LPSA2 

 

9



10



Appendix 2 

 

 

Audience Published Reference no. 

 

Annual Performance Assessment and Joint Area Reviews 
of  

 
  

 

  

 

 

Self-assessment 

 

Part 2: The template for completion 

 

Name of Authority:  Herefordshire 

Adult Learning Inspectorate 

Audit Commission  

Commission for Social Care Inspection (CSCI) 

Healthcare Commission  

HM Crown Prosecution Service Inspectorate  

HM Inspectorate of Constabulary  

HM Inspectorate of Court Administration 

HM Inspectorate of Prisons  

HM Inspectorate of Probation  

Ofsted 

 

 

All [Date]  [00000]  

11



 

© Crown copyright 2006 

 

Website: www.ofsted.gov.uk 

This document may be reproduced in whole or in part for non-commercial purposes, provided 

that the information quoted is reproduced without adaptation and the source and date of 

publication are stated. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

12



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 3 of 27 

CONTENTS Page 

 

 

PART A 4 

Background information  

 

 

PART B 5 

Context and arrangements for partnership working  

 

 

PART C  7 

Analysis of needs, involvement and impact 

 

 

PART D 9 

The management of services for children and young people,  

including the use of resources and the capacity to improve.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

When completing this form: 

• please refer to Part 1: Guidance on self-assessment for joint area reviews 
and annual performance assessment; 

• please do not use a font size smaller than 11 point; and 
• please ensure that the overall number of pages is no more that 20 for APA 

purposes and no more than 26 for a JAR 

13



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 4 of 27 

 

PART A Background Information 

A. Brief info about key contacts and arrangements for contribution to the APA 

  

Name of Children’s 

Services Authority: 

Herefordshire Council 

Address: Brockington, 35 Hafod Road, Hereford HR1 1SH  

  

Name of Children’s 

Services Contact: 

Dr Lorna Selfe 

Address: Children and Young People’s Directorate, Blackfriars 

Street, Hereford HR4 9ZR 

Telephone: 01432 260801 

Email: lselfe@herefordshire.gov.uk 

  

  

Date self-assessment 

submitted: 

31st May 2006 

  

Signed/agreed on behalf of the Children’s Services’ Authority 

Name Sue Fiennes 

Position Director of Children & Young People’s Services 

Signature  

  

How partners have been involved in completing this form:  

All the contributions have been made on an interagency basis through members 

of the CYP’s Partnership. 

Signed/agreed on behalf of the Children’s Services’ Authority’s partners: 

Name Paul Bates 

Position Chief Executive of the PCT 

Signature  

14



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 5 of 27 

 

PART B Context and arrangements for joint working  

 
1. Key contextual features 
The JAR self-assessment completed in June 2005 set out the key contextual features, which 
affect the delivery of children’s services in the local area. That information is still valid.  
Restructuring to manage the full agenda for children’s services within the council has taken 
place.  The PCT will continue to be co-terminous with the local authority and new 
arrangements between the Council and the PCT are being developed in moving towards 
children’s trust arrangements. 
 
The JAR 
In the autumn of 2005 Herefordshire Children’s Services were subject to a joint review. 
Performance was rated as ‘adequate’ or ‘good’ in four of the outcome areas.  However, 
serious weaknesses were highlighted for the Staying Safe outcome with a rating of 
‘inadequate’. Capacity to improve was regarded as ‘adequate’. The Youth Service inspection 
resulted in a judgement that the Quality of Curriculum and Resource was inadequate. These 
judgements posed a serious challenge to improve. The self-assessment had not anticipated 
the issues identified through the JAR inspection and this was also a challenge. 
 
Since this assessment strenuous efforts have been made to address the weaknesses 
described in JAR and to identify additional capacity. (JAR Performance Improvement Action 
Plan). The following outlines achievements to date and areas for further work: 
 
What we have achieved so far 
• Further development of the existing Child Concern Model to redefine and widen the 

criteria for social work involvement (Recommendation JAR Report (REC) 1) 
• Publication and dissemination of a new leaflet for all those working with children to 

explain the changed criteria (REC 2) 
• New initiatives to ensure all vacant posts are covered and to improve social worker 

recruitment.  Immediate work with agencies and a contract with Tribal for a national and 
regional recruitment campaign, has enabled new temporary and permanent staff to be 
recruited (REC 3) 

• Appointment of a manager to lead regular independent professional scrutiny and analysis 
of children’s social work (REC 1,2,4 and 17) 

• A successful bid for consultancy support from the Children’s Workforce Development 
Council and a new strategy is being developed (REC 3) 

• Additional resources have been allocated: corporate contingency budget across all social 
care services £1.3m; funding for the JAR Performance Improvement Action Plan £100k; 
LSCB funding £149k and additional preventative service funding of £70k already 
identified within the Council and also by partners (REC 12).  Three additional OTs 
appointed to improve access to service. (REC 8) 

• Funding bid made to DoH which will lead to improved access to multi-agency Tier 4 
CAMHS provision (REC 14) 

• Shadow CYP’s Partnership Board established to improve consultation with and 

involvement of children and young people (REC 15): Youth Council established. 
 
Challenges remaining 

• Adopting an enhanced strategic approach to delivering all of the Change for Children 
programme in Herefordshire across all agencies to maximise the efficiency of the delivery 
of the PIA Plan and the overarching Children and Young People’s Plan (CYPPlan). (REC 
12) 

- Development and delivery of a change programme for all of children’s services  

15



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 6 of 27 

  in the local area. The Office of Public Management is commissioned to assist. 
- As part of this change programme, equipping all managers at all levels with a   
  sound understanding of the principles and practice of effective single and joint    
  planning and commissioning of children’s services, modelling this on the national    
  children’s services improvement cycle. 

• To implement a developed and coherent performance management system  which 
operates seamlessly across all levels of children’s services and is part of the whole 
Council approach. This also links with the outcome performance function of the Children 
and Young People’s Partnership Board, so that performance improvement is seen as 
‘everybody’s business’ (REC: 17) The Institute of Public Care are assisting. 

• To ensure that data collation and handling in children’s social care and across the whole 
of children’s services, is effective and that the data collected is robust, accurate and 
timely, so as to provide a sound basis for planning, target setting and effective 
performance management (REC 13, 17). 

• Recruiting and retaining  permanent social work staff to vacancies. Further work is  
required through the Workforce Strategy with CWDC support (REC 3). 

• Delivering  resources and capacity to ensure full delivery of the JAR Performance 
Improving Action Plan and for the CYPPlan (REC 12). 

• Transformation of the existing Child Concern Model to develop Herefordshire’s Common 
Assessment framework to meet additional national requirements (REC 5,6) whilst 
changing ways of working and improving working relationships across agencies to 
provide greater clarity of roles and responsibilities (REC 5,6,12). 

 
2. Factual Information 
All demographic information about Herefordshire is detailed in the Children & Young People’s 
Plan.  A profile of needs can be summarised as follows: 

 

Profile of Need in Herefordshire 

 

All children and young 

people 

41,000 Children and young people with 

severe and complex needs 

200 

Children and young people 

with additional needs 

8,000 Children and young people looked 
after 

 

160 

Children and young people 

in need 

800 Children and young people on the 

child protection register 

 

62 

 

 
3. Arrangements for Partnership and Joint Working 
The JAR identified partnership working as a strength.  Since the JAR report further 
developments have occurred. A draft information sharing protocol has been endorsed. An 
officer in the PCT has been appointed to lead on joint commissioning.  The Children and 
Young People’s Partnership Board is developing its governance arrangements moving 
towards children’s trust requirements; further to this, the Council and the PCT are exploring 
options for shared governance arrangements to oversee the delivery of all public services in 
the area. The present proposal for children’s trust and linkage arrangements is drawn below: 

 
 
 

16



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 7 of 27 

 
 

 

 

LOCAL STRATEGIC PARTNERSHIP   

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S 
PARTNERSHIP BOARD 

CHILDREN AND YOUNG PEOPLE’S  
EXECUTIVE GROUP 

AGENCY EXECUTIVE 
PARTNERSHIPS 

Cabinet/Council  
Primary Care Trust (PCT) 

Health and Care 
Partnership  

Probation Board 
Local Policing Board 

Connexions Board 
Learning and Skills Council 

The Alliance (VSC) 

 

CHILDREN’S TRUST 

ARRANGEMENTS 
OFFICE: 

Needs Analysis 
Commissioning 

Participation 
Outcome 

OTHER 
PARTNERSHIPS 

Community Safety & 
Drugs 

Children’s Fund 
EYDCP 

CYP SHADOW BOARD 

YOT 
Board 

BEING HEALTHY 

(NSF) 
ENJOYING AND 
ACHIEVING 

ECONOMIC 
WELL BEING 

STAYING SAFE 
(LSCB) 

POSITIVE 
CONTRIBUTION 

TASK GROUPS AS REQUIRED 

Domestic 

Violence 
Forum 

PROPOSED CHILDREN’S PARTNERSHIP GOVERNANCE ARRANGEMENTS IN HEREFORDSHIRE 

1
7



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 8 of 27 

1. Priorities from the Children and Young People’s Plan (please refer to CYPPlan) 
C&YP Plan Priorities for 

improvement 

JAR Recommendations plus Priorities Meeting 

BEING HEALTHY 

• Improving outcomes on 
mental health. 

• Improving outcomes on 
physical health. 

• Ensure effective implementation of the multi-agency healthcare planning procedures for 
looked after children. 

• Improve access to Occupational Therapy Services. 
• Ensure appropriate social care support for the families of children with learning difficulties 

and disabilities. 
• Improve communication with parents and young people with learning difficulties and 

disabilities in terms of both the assessment of need and planning of provision. 
• Improve access to hospital in-patient (or specialist outreach) provision to meet children 

and young people’s mental health needs (Tier 4 CAMHS). 
• Improve dental health of children. 

STAYING SAFE 
• Translating the Child 

Concern Model into the 
Common Assessment 
Framework (JAR Action 
Plan). 

• Ensure safeguarding 
arrangements are 
strengthened. 

• Ensure that appropriate criteria are set for the involvement of the local authority’s 
professionally qualified social care staff in child protection cases. 

• Ensure that these criteria are clearly understood by all concerned and consistently 
applied in practice. 

• Ensure that there is an effective workforce strategy to address the recruitment and 
retention problems within the local authority’s care service. 

• Ensure that a written record is made of all contacts with the social care duty team. 
• Ensure there is a single referral, assessment and service planning framework for children 

in need, which is consistently and effectively applied in practice. 
• Ensure that the training, guidance and support needs of all staff contributing to the 

implementation of the Child Concern Model are addressed, both in terms of the time 
required to undertake the tasks involved and the necessary skills. 

ENJOY AND ACHIEVE 

Improving standards in 
education across all sectors 
and tackling 
underachievement. 

• Standstill in KS2 performance in ’05. 
• Raising the attainment of low-achievers in KS4. 

POSITIVE CONTRIBUTION 

Reducing anti-social 
behaviour. 

• First-time offenders and recidivism rates. 
• Drugs action. 

ECONOMIC WELL-BEING 

• Improving learning and 
recreation including 
access and housing. 

• Improving learning 
outcomes for 14-19 year 
olds. 

• Improve housing provision for both single young people and families. 
• Youth Matters Agenda. 
• Post-16 staying-on rates. 

VULNERABLE GROUPS 

• Improving outcomes for 
children Looked After. 

• Improving outcomes for 
children with LDD by 
integrating processes. 

• LAC who are NEET 
• Transition planning for young people with Learning Difficulties/Disabilities (LDD). 
• Post-16 strategy for children with LDD. 

SERVICE MANAGEMENT 

Integrating service delivery • Improve action planning to deliver strategic aims and objectives and ensure that 
associated resourcing needs are met. 

• Improve information systems within the Council’s social care services to enable better 
management oversight and evaluation of service effectiveness. 

• Improve co-ordination of consultation with children and young people to support their 
participation in strategic planning and review. 

• Strengthen performance management processes involving elected members and senior 
officers including the Partnership Board and the Council’s Children’s Scrutiny Committee. 

18



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 9 of 27 

Please provide the following self-assessment grades 

Only required for a joint area review 

Areas for judgement 

Grade 

for being 

healthy 

Grade for 

staying 

safe 

Grade for 

enjoying 

and 

achieving 

Grade for 

making a 

positive 

contribution 

Grade for 

achieving 

economic 

well-

being 

The contribution of 

publicly funded 

services collectively 

in maintaining and 

improving this outcome 

for children and young 

people. 

     

 

Publicly funded 

services 
Grade  

Capacity to improve   

 

Required for the joint area review and annual performance assessment. 

 

The council’s 

children’s services 
Grade  

The contribution of the 

council’s children’s 

services in 

maintaining and 

improving outcomes 

for children and young 

people. 

2 

 

The council’s 

children’s services  
Grade  

The council’s capacity 

to improve it services 

for children and young 

people 

2 

 

Additional area for judgement in 2006 only Grade  

Children’s social care services   2 

19



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 10 of 27 

PART C  Needs analysis, impact and  involvement.  

 

 

The reports and plans given at the beginning of each of the outcome sections give 
the descriptive detail about each outcome and give an assessment of strengths 
and weaknesses.  This is not repeated in the sections below.  The assessments 
focus on progress that has been made since the JAR report was published, and on 
the priorities that have been set for the next planning period. 

 

Being healthy 

 
The JAR rated Being Healthy as ‘good’. (3). 
 
Related evidence: JAR self-assessment (pp 12-13, 20-21) 
   JAR Report (pp 14/16) 
   JAR Performance Improvement Action Plan 
   Children and Young People’s Plan (pp 28/29) 
                                APA Dataset. 
 
The JAR rated local health services for children as 3 (good), but the health community 
takes seriously the need to continue to improve health services for children, as well as to 
work very closely with social care services as part of the wider improvement task required 
by the 1 (inadequate) rating for social care.  The PCT and Hereford Hospital Acute Trust 
are therefore active partners in taking forward the children’s services agenda: strategically, 
as members of the Children and Young People’s Partnership Board; and operationally, as 
members of its various sub-groups.  A senior PCT operational manager has joined the JAR 
action plan review group which meets weekly to performance manage the implementation 
of the plan.  This high level of health community engagement will continue throughout the 
forthcoming organisational changes resulting from the NHS reforms.  Talks are underway 
about the development of a Herefordshire Public Service Trust, and discussions about the 
location of the Children’s trust within this are taking high priority at both the PCT and the 
Council. 
The key targets and goals for Herefordshire are set out in the JAR report, and the CYPP.  
There were four main areas where JAR recommendations related specifically to being 
healthy.  Progress has been made in each of these as follows: 
1. Ensuring effective implementation of multi-agency health care planning 

procedures for children Looked After 
The designated nurse for the PCT has led this work.  All health care plans have now been 
copied for insertion in social care notes.  Where Herefordshire young people are placed 
outside the County, the local areas have been written to, and a copy of the plan 
requested.  The records of looked after children who are placed in Herefordshire from 
outside the County are now being checked to ensure all have health care plans within the 
notes. A new procedure has been introduced. Social Care audits of casework are now 
cross referenced to health care scrutiny of all records.  Single agency guidelines to inform 
health staff of their roles and responsibilities in the joint safeguarding process have been 
produced by the designated nurse, and disseminated widely.  The post of Looked After 
children’s nurse is currently vacant and recruitment prospects are being enhanced by a re-
banding of the post. 
An area for development is the involvement of young people and families. Although a 
foster carer has been active on the Healthy Care Standard Working Group, which has 
agreed leaflets on health assessment, further work involving young people remains a 
priority. A National Healthy Care Standards event is being led in June by NCB to manage 

20



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 11 of 27 

this.  
2. Improving access to occupational therapy services 
This has improved significantly.  A 12-week target from referral to assessment is now 
being met.  This has been achieved by a programme of change, including an additional 
post being created to provide an ASD Specialist within OT. At Easter, new assessment 
groups were established in children’s centres, bringing children into playgroup 
environments for assessment.  The Council is appointing a housing OT to relieve the 
pressure on PCT staff for assessment and enable more therapeutic intervention.  In the 
summer term, OT staff will be visiting special schools once a term to train staff thereby 
improving the quality of OT support in the school setting. 
3. Improving access to inpatient CAMHS 
This remains challenging since Tier 4 provision is Birmingham-based and historically 
under-provided across the region.  A regional Tier 4 commissioning strategy has still to be 
agreed and this long-standing piece of work is unlikely to progress in the short term as 
PCTs are reconfigured.  However, a joint Worcestershire, Shropshire, Herefordshire PFI  
bid for a new unit for young women with emotional and behavioural issues has been 
submitted to the SHA and a response is awaited. All tiers of activity are being reviewed to 
ensure needs are being met effectively, including those with complex needs.  
4. Improving communication with parents and young people with learning 

difficulties and disabilities 
This is being addressed by establishing groups of parents of CAMHS users, led by a social 
worker who is part of the CAMHS team and linked in to LDD nurses.  This has created a 
structure to move this work forward. 
Further work is in progress and the Council for Disabled Children is assisting with 
developing a series of workshops with parents as well as developing standards for 
communication with parents and carers. There is also work to improve and update the 
existing Children’s Services Directory to provide better information. 

 
Other Priorities 
1. Increase in the percentage of 2 year olds who are up-to-date with MMR 

immunisation from 2004/2005 baseline (82% baseline) 
Since the JAR, local pharmacies have run an MMR immunisation take-up campaign.  This 
was identified as one of the six annual public health campaigns which community 
pharmacies deliver as part of their new contract.   Locally specific leaflets were prepared 
for pharmacies, giving figures for local disease outbreaks as well as locality based figures 
for vaccination coverage. 
2. Increase in percentage of babies who are breast fed in the county from 

2004/2005 baseline (70% baseline) 
Breastfeeding continues to be a priority area across the County, with good partnerships 
with Surestart, who have led on La Leche training and on the establishment of a Baby 
Café in Leominster.  Over £200k of LPSA2 money is being used to establish a 2-year peer 
support project aimed at increasing breastfeeding rates among teenage mothers across 
the County, and among all women in the South Wye area of high social deprivation.  This 
project will begin in the summer of 2006, and will involve the Teenage Pregnancy Co-
ordinator, as well as PCT and Acute Trust staff.  Local women will have training 
opportunities as well as representation on the Project Steering Group. 
3. Increase in percentage of babies born to South Wye mothers who are breast 

fed from 2004/2005 baseline (244/392 were breast feeding)  
See 2 above. 
4. Improvement in percentage of 5 year olds free from dental decay from 

2001/2002 baseline (58% baseline) 
The poor oral health of children in Herefordshire has been specifically linked to the lack of 
fluoridation and a presentation on the safety of fluoridated water has been given to the 

21



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 12 of 27 

Health Scrutiny Committee.  The PCT has now formally requested the SHA, in line with 
new statutory arrangements, to work with the local water provider to conduct a feasibility 
study on fluoridation.  Risks to dental service provision were created by the introduction of 
the new dental contract in April 2006, but special arrangements have been made to 
ensure looked after children have priority access through the Dental Access Centres, and 
that all children and young people who are refused NHS care by their current dentist are 
able to receive treatment through the Dental Access Centres.  New surgeries are being 
planned throughout the County, which will again ease any access difficulties. 
5. Reducing year on year rise in obesity among children under 11 by 2010 (no 

baseline figures until September 2006) 
A multi-agency steering group on obesity is led by the PCT and is currently working on a 
key resource for September 2006 publication, which will be for use by colleagues 
throughout health and social care, giving advice on local services, and on interventions.  
Baseline measurement of children in Reception and Year 6 is being planned, consistent 
with the most recent guidance, and the PCT has identified a small resource to deliver this. 
6. Reducing teenage conceptions by 50% from 1998 by 2010 (37.2 rate per 

1,000 women aged 15-17) 
The Teenage Pregnancy Strategy continues with its successful implementation and the 
2010 target is likely to be met.  Within the overall excellent rates, there are hot spots and 
these have been identified and strategies are in place to bring changes. 
7. Reduce hospital admission rates for accidents among children from 2002 

baseline 
Reducing hospital admission rates for accidents is in development.  Analysis of baseline 
and subsequent data is underway to inform the interventions required, which are likely to 
include targeted parenting support.  Developing an integrated hospital and community 
paediatric service is a service priority and may be important in addressing this area of 
work.  
8. Improvements in access to CAMHS 
CAMHS access is under close scrutiny and waiting times were noted at the time of the JAR 
to have reduced significantly.  Waiting times from GP to consultant appointments are 
monitored via weekly returns with a monthly notification of any breeches which are acted 
on immediately.  The regional CAMHS support worker is to work with Herefordshire on 
capacity and demand modelling for CAMHS as a whole, and an initial workshop is planned 
for June.  Improving access to Tiers 1, 2 and 3 is part of the response to limited Tier 4 
provision so that escalation of need is minimised. 
Data collection for measuring the agreed indicators will be led by the Public Health 
Department at the PCT in the short term. 
9. Improvements in Drugs Action  
(See Positive Contribution page 20) 
10. Transitions work for young people with disabilities.   
A multi agency task group is due to reconvene on 4th May with membership from a range 
of agencies.  A steering group and a new post of co-ordinator will be established to 
implement the recommendations of the task group.  New standards have been drafted.  
Workshops will be arranged with policy support from National Council for Disabled 
Children.  
11. Single Assessment framework for LDD 
See JAR Action Plan for implementation and impact of CAF and Enjoy and Achieve section. 
 
Areas for improvement remain and these include: 
• Involving children and young people in analysing, planning and delivering 

services.  A shadow CYP Board is in place. (See Positive Contribution for further 
details).   

• Pro-active approaches to diversity.  The ethnic profile of Herefordshire is changing 

22



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 13 of 27 

rapidly but there is a lack of robust information.  Health organisations have developed 
strategies such as translation of leaflets on accessing health services; establishment of 
a health visitor led drop-in group for Portuguese mothers and young children; and 
developing multi-agency links to explore data issues.  However, the pace of ethnic 
change is such that this work is becoming more urgent.   

• Implementing the Children, Young People, and Maternity NSF.  Although this is 
a 10-year implementation date, the need to performance manage the implementation 
of the NSF locally has been recognised.  A baseline audit is underway and this will be 
used to develop an action plan to ensure effective work towards 10-year 
implementation. 
For full details of targets and timetables please see health plans, particularly 
the Local Delivery Plan. 
  

Staying safe 

 
The JAR rated Staying Safe as ‘inadequate’. (1). 
 
Related evidence: JAR self-assessment (pp 13/14 and 21-22) 
   JAR Report (pp 17-21) 
   Children and Young People’s Plan (pp 30-31) 
                               APA Dataset.  
The JAR rated safeguarding in Herefordshire as inadequate. The JAR 
Performance Improvement Action Plan includes full details of all the 
measures taken to address the recommendations in the JAR Report. 
 
Safeguarding activity including children in need of protection   
 
The JAR Action Plan has taken forward all the recommendations. Considerable progress 
has been made on: 
 
Recs1-4 
• Realigning and confirming thresholds within the Child Concern Model for social work 

involvement. As a result the number of referrals to the duty service and the number of 
initial assessments completed has risen. A steady increase is expected in referral 
activity over the coming year towards the target of 210/10,000 (CH141). 

• Ensuring all contacts with the duty social work team are recorded with new systems in 
place and additional supervisory and casework monitoring arrangements.  A 
reconfiguration of the duty system is planned. 

• As well as increasing referral rates, comparable improvements are planned in 
assessment activity and completions (CH143/DIS1704) while reducing re-referral rates 
(CH142). 

• Recruitment to vacant social work posts (8) and an increase in the number of duty 
social workers (2, plus an Assistant Team Manager). 

• Information about thresholds has been distributed widely and additional training 
sessions have been held with the Child Concern Model consultants and others. 

 
Recs 5-6 
• Development of common processes (CAF arrangements) are under way.  The approach 

is to build the new national requirements on the strengths of the existing Child Concern 
Model.  

• Developing and piloting the new CAF will take place in the Autumn and the whole 
county roll out will follow. A project plan is in place and the new CAF will be piloted 
from January 2007 within the South Wye cluster as well as the integrated service for 

23



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 14 of 27 

children with disabilities. Supporting materials and guidance for the new framework will 
be included in the training programmes to be commissioned for October-December 
2006, prior to pilot.  

• Early intervention to prevent problems escalating and to improve the outcomes for 
children and young people.  A countywide Matching Needs and Services audit (October 
2005) and a localised audit of additional needs within the South Wye area (April 2006) 
are informing this work. As a result an additional 70k has been allocated for family 
support services. 

 
Herefordshire has established the Local Safeguarding Children Board (HSCB) from 1st April 
2006. The HSCB has published a booklet on safeguarding arrangements within 
Herefordshire.  Additional resourcing of £149k for the HSCB has been identified to recruit a 
business and development officer as well as providing additional training support and an 
independent chair. Recruitment is under way. 
 
Overall the performance data for child protection is positive. All children on the Child 
Protection Register continue to have an allocated social worker and reviewing of these 
cases (C20) has returned to 100%. Rates of registration (CH01) have moved much closer 
to the comparator group average and CH02/03 (rates of conferencing and registration) are 
in line. A regular internal audit of all re-registered cases is in place to ensure that any 
practice deficits are identified. 
  
Immediate changes to safeguarding practice within the duty service were made following 
publication of the JAR. New procedures for the recording of all contacts with Social Care 
were implemented in January 2006. Additional decision-making capacity has been made 
available through the recruitment of one extra f.t.e. assistant team manager. Standard 
templates for the auditing of decisions and case records are now in place and form the 
basis of a routine report from the relevant service manager to the Senior Management 
team.  An initial review of the existing configuration of social work services has taken 
place. A decision on the preferred configuration to referral and assessment services will be 
made in July 2006. 
 
The Inspection findings for schools on Staying Safe are as follows; 79%- 
good/outstanding; 100%- satisfactory and above for tested cohort (9/05 – 3/06).  
Herefordshire schools all have designated teachers and safeguarding is seen as a high 
priority. 
 
Children Looked After 
Rec. 7 
• Immediate measures have been taken to ensure that healthcare assessments and 

planning for children Looked After are effective.  All assessments have been audited.  
In future childcare review chairs will audit and review assessments. 

• NHC Standards will be fully adopted later in the year with the support of NCB starting 
with a workshop in June. 

Outcomes for children Looked After within this county are generally good. The rate of 
children becoming Looked After (CH39) has slowly declined over the medium-term and is 
close to the comparator average. Nearly ninety percent of children Looked After will be 
placed with either a foster or adoptive family. Of the former, one fifth will be placed with 
relatives and friends. The ageing of the Looked After cohort as a whole is seeing increasing 
pressures on costs, particularly with residential provision.  However, Herefordshire has a 
Section 31 Agreement between PCT and Children’s Services to fund such provision.  
Additional preventative services are planned to support families more effectively and to 
reduce the number of children Looked After further.  The family support commissioning 

24



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 15 of 27 

process will have this as a major objective with the additional funding which has been 
allocated.  All children Looked After continue to have an allocated social worker. 
The achievements of the authority in securing placement security and stability 
(A1/D35/2065SC) were noted by the JAR and re-emphasised within the conclusions of the 
latest inspection report of the fostering service (March 2006). While “children are 
consistently matched to carers who can meet their needs”, at least four other local factors 
have been identified as making a contribution to improving outcomes for this cohort. 
• That sound procedures and practices on safer caring are not just in place but used.  
• That contact opportunities with birth families are maximised (and has formed part of 

the developing service with NCH).  
• That an effective and purposeful advocacy and consultation service is in place for 

children and young people.  
• That carers feel well supported and advised to secure the best for children and young 

people entrusted to their care.  

The inspection noted that the actions identified in February 2005 had been addressed 

almost in their entirety “indicating a positive response to regulation and an ability to drive 

change”.  

For full details of targets and timescales, please see JAR Performance 

Improvement Action Plan. 

 

Enjoying and achieving 

 
The JAR rated Enjoy and Achieve as good (3) 
 
Related evidence:  JAR self assessment (pp 14-16 and 23-24) 
   JAR Report (pp19-21) 
   JAR Performance Improvement Action Plan 

Children and Young People’s Plan (pp 32-34) 
APA dataset 
Local Authority Data (LADP) 
PANDAS 
School inspection reports 
National Youth Agency audit 
Council data 

 
Herefordshire’s children and young people enjoy and achieve well in comparison with 
national averages and in line with pupils in similar authorities. Herefordshire has many high 
performing institutions in all phases of education: mainstream schools, early years settings, 
the sixth form college and some work based learning providers. There is a shared 
commitment to continuous improvement and a strong emphasis on partnership working. 
We seek to improve the performance of our schools to at least match that of our statistical 
neighbours and to remain above national averages. 
 
Key challenges and priorities for improvement 
1. Further improving Early Years provision 
Effective monitoring informs the level and focus of Council support for a diverse workforce. 
High quality training by Council and international experts and access to accredited training 
at levels 1-4 results in well-qualified leaders (97% at level 3+). Feedback indicates that 
support is highly valued and influences practice.  Performance remains above the national 
average. Council training on self evaluation results in 58% of settings now holding QA 
accreditation. The number of settings judged to be satisfactory or better has increased to 

25



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 16 of 27 

96% in 2006. The pre-school area SENCOs are highly regarded and have significantly 
reduced the number of children referred for statutory assessment.  They offer accredited 
training in speech and language development in partnership with the PCT that has 
improved practitioner interactions with children. A learning network focused on the Reggio 
Emilia approach has disseminated good practice. There are four fully operational Children’s 
Centres in the authority; the Foundation Stage regional director has identified good 
practice in one.  
2. Improving achievement in primary schools 
This year the Council has focused support on addressing the 2005 standstill in maths and 
science, the weakness in boys’ writing and gaps in attainment between boys and girls by: 
• raising teacher expectations, especially at the higher levels, by promoting the use of 

‘layered curricular targets’ in reading, writing and mathematics. This builds on the 
model that is being successfully used in the Intensifying Support Programme (ISP); 

• engaging with a number of schools, in particular their leadership teams, on recognised 
national programmes that have the specific aim of raising standards: 

o Primary Leadership Programme  - 21 schools 
o Sustaining Success                       -   3 schools 
o Intensifying Support Programme -   4 schools 

• providing professional development for teachers on collecting appropriate evidence for 
teacher assessment at Key Stage One in mathematics and science: strategy 
consultants work with teachers to improve the provision for AT1 Using and Applying in 
mathematics and Sc1 scientific enquiry in science. Good practitioners from last 
summer’s assessment process share with colleagues, their experiences and approaches 
to assessment; 

• continuing to deliver the 5 day mathematics course for KS1 teachers, stressing the 
need to provide opportunities for pupils to experience AT1;  

• promoting Visual Literacy (e.g. ‘Telling Tales’ film project) in order that the less 
motivated writer, often boys, will become more engaged in the writing process; 

• monitoring closely the impact of literacy and numeracy intervention programmes in 
targeted schools; 

• identifying schools where girls consistently perform as well as boys in mathematics and 
sharing their strategies with colleagues in other schools;  

• supporting schools that, through the Primary Learning Networks programme, have 
specifically identified a mathematics focus.; 

• supporting Interactive Whiteboard (IWB) provision and training in effective use. All 
schools have at least one IWB and 93% of primary schools have an IWB in every 
classroom. The National Whiteboard Network recognises Herefordshire as a lead 
authority in the use of IWB technology. 

• Monitoring of the actions listed above, through school reviews, lesson observations, 
pupil progress meetings and course evaluations indicate positive progress.  (see 
Primary Action Plan) 

3. Improving achievement in KS3 science at L5+ 
The Council has employed additional consultant support to work with targeted schools at 
Key Stages 3 and 4. Inspection at Weobley High School recognised improvements in 
science that had been a failing department.  
4. Improving the percentage of pupils gaining 5+A*-C at GCSE 
Council consultant, AST and inspector support is prioritised for schools with low value 
added attainment. Strategies in 2005-2006 include: 
• working with senior and middle leaders on school self evaluation through joint data 

analysis, lesson observations, work scrutiny and student interviews; 
• developing Assessment for Learning (AFL) as a county-wide priority; 
• supporting a countywide subject specific CPD day on AfL for all high school teachers in 

most subjects; 

26



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 17 of 27 

• co-ordinating and disseminating strategies from the DfES LIG, Performance 
Collaborative and SIA SfCC programmes; 

• the Excellence Cluster programmes on improving monitoring and provision for gifted 
and talented students and providing effective inclusion support for students with 
behavioural difficulties; 

• the Aimhigher programme that is raising the awareness and aspirations of 
disadvantaged students about further and higher education;  

• supporting increased vocational courses at KS4 with sharing of experience across and 
beyond the Increased Flexibility Programme (IFP), Leading Edge Partnership and LIG 
networks that are improving student attendance and motivation across schools;  

Tracking progress and tackling under-performing students is improving. Mentoring is 
focused. Study leave is becoming rare, replaced by imaginative revision classes. Inspection 
this year has recognised progress in achievement in 2 priority schools. Next steps are to 
support improved use of assessment in planning, consolidate teacher advice on how to 
improve and support personalised learning approaches. 
5. Improving the percentage of pupils gaining A*-C at GCSE in English and 

maths 
Consultant and AST support is targeted at schools with lower achievement and less 
experienced teachers. Experience of Key Skills is shared across schools. We have a LPSA2 
target and  will maintain a  focus on English and maths. 
6. Improving the percentage of pupils gaining 5+A*-G grades at GCSE 
At GCSE in 2005 the percentage of students gaining 1+A*-G pass was 98.3%, placing the 
Council in the 8th percentile nationally for year on year improvement. (APA, LADP) This 
good performance by lower achieving pupils in 2005 contradicts the AWI inspection of 
2004 and JAR of 2005. The percentage of pupils gaining 5+ A*-G passes was 92.4% an 
increase of 2.5% from 2004 and 2.2% above the national average (LADP). However, we 
are pushing for further improvement through: training on better use of TAs, supporting 
more focused work on target setting and differentiated provision, building on the successes 
of Aimhigher, encouraging sharing of self esteem, building learning power and encouraging 
boys strategies, further widening of the vocational curriculum and increasing entry for 
accreditation. Next steps will be to improve mapping and analysis of achievement in non-
GCSE provision and analysis of the progress made by vulnerable groups. 
7. Sustaining and improving the consistency of A-Level and post 16 results 
The Council convenes a post 16 group of curriculum leaders who share practice and 
consider data, developments and issues. The majority of A-Level students are at Hereford 
Sixth Form College, the sixth highest performing college nationally in 2005. Results at A-
Level for Herefordshire as a whole were well above the national average. The pass rate in 
school sixth forms was above the national average at AS level and in line at A-Level. APS 
was slightly below the average although the rate of improvement is higher. Overall value 
added in 2005 in schools was just above the national at A-Level and above at AS level. 
(PANDA, NMS). Entry for AVCE is low although training in summer 2006 for the new AVCE 
is being taken up. All sixth form provision has been inspected in the last 2 years; of the 4 
schools one was found satisfactory and three good and the college outstanding. 
8. Improving the achievement of children Looked After 
Small numbers make analysis of individual pupil progress important.  In 2005 of 17 LAC, 
14 pupils (82% of LAC cohort) entered GCSE of whom 100% gained 1+A*-G.  11 pupils 
gained 5+A*-G grades although only one gained 5+A*-C.  This represents an 
improvement on previous years but remains a challenge for all officers. 
9. Improving the achievement of pupils with SEN 
Pupils’ achievement remained higher in primary than secondary in 2005. The Council is 
targeting training and support at secondary SENCOs in tracking individual pupil progress, 
literacy interventions, leading the whole staff on differentiating teaching and knowledge of 
alternative curriculum. The Council is jointly evaluating provision with SENCOs to support 

27



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 18 of 27 

them in self evaluation.  
10. Improving the statutory assessment process for SEN 
Revised exceptions protocol and more rigorous processes have led to a rise in the 
percentage of new statements prepared in under 18 weeks (95.7% in April 2006). We are 
on target to improve. 
The rolling out of the Council “banded” funding programme for early intervention is 
reducing the percentage of pupils with a statement and, similarly, reducing the percentage 
of new statements. 
The number of SEN appeals to Tribunal is minimal; of three in 2004 all were withdrawn 
and of 2 in 2005 one was withdrawn. 
The percentage of reviewed and discontinued statements is a weakness. The Council is 
restructuring and evaluating current annual review protocols and monitoring more 
rigorously documentation and partnership working with schools to improve tracking of 
pupil progress. 
11. Improving the integration of SEN needs assessment and planning processes 

into the new Common Assessment Processes  CAF (Child Concern Model) 
The Council is consulting on definitions of LDD and other shared terminology and plans to 
use the successful “banded” funding model of 4 levels of provision as the basis of a revised  
CCM (CAF) with parity of thresholds.  
12. Improving monitoring of pupil progress among vulnerable groups and using 

data to evaluate provision 
The Council has strengthened its LDD monitoring team so that we are beginning to track 
the progress of vulnerable groups more effectively. We are adopting the regional LA Self 
Evaluation Schedule from May 2006. 
13. Full time provision for excluded pupils 
Full time provision is available and offered to each pupil. There has been a significant drop 
in tuition hours in 2005. This is being monitored closely by the Social Inclusion Officer. 
Early intervention has been extended in KS2. Council intervention and leadership by a 
successful special school headteacher led to improvements in a PRU recognised by a 
satisfactory inspection judgement in Spring 2006. Inspection in Autumn 2005 judged 
another PRU outstanding. 
14. Developing further the 14-19 strategy 
IFP funds have been maximised and, augmented by school funds, increased the vocational 
curriculum again this year and more new courses are on line from September 2006. 
Aimhigher events have enthused young people in targeted schools where aspiration is 
traditionally low.  A new, alternative, work-focused curriculum (ALPS) for disaffected 
learners has started well and schools timetable core subject provision. A Young 
Apprenticeship hospitality course will start in September 2006. Central support capacity has 
been affected by illness, funding changes and reorganisation. The Council is currently 
advertising a curriculum development post at senior leader level. Ways to develop 
provision is a constant agenda item for all strategy and senior leader networks. Distance, 
time and transport remain barriers although a mixture of central and local developments is 
emerging. Next priorities are to consolidate courses, improve mapping and analysis of 
outcomes, create an area prospectus and advance planning towards diploma provision. 
15. Improving accredited learning outcomes for young people working with the 

Youth Service 
In 2005 the Youth Service significantly increased the number of accredited learning 
outcomes of the young people they work with (2005 = 490, 2004 = 369) although they did 
not meet their target and outcomes remain below national figures (NYA audit). Awards 
cover a good range of recreational and personal development areas. Young people at risk 
of NEET who follow an alternative curriculum are included in the awards. 
16. Sustaining and further improving the effectiveness of schools 
The Council targets intensive support at schools identified with weaknesses, particularly for 

28



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 19 of 27 

leadership, self evaluation and teaching and learning. In 2005-2006 inspections have 
judged some of these schools satisfactory and improving, two primary schools have a 
notice to improve and are already making progress with key issues. 
17. Falling rolls  
The Council has held meetings with headteachers, commissioned a report on federated 
and collaborative approaches nationally and initiated a school organisation review. The 
school community understands the issues and need for changes. 
18. Recruitment and retention of headteachers 
Recruitment is becoming problematic in small primary schools. The Council delivers locally 
determined and some NCSL training for heads, deputies and aspiring leaders. We fund a 
mentor programme and support networking. We encourage acting headteacher 
opportunities. This year we alerted Chairs of Governors to headteacher workload issues ran 
a conference on work life balance and have subscribed to the Worklife Support programme 
for all employees. The next step is to review all related strategies and draw them into a 
policy. 
19. Teacher supply in secondary English, maths, science and ICT is difficult 
The Council prioritises consultant support in these subjects to support implementation of 
National Strategies, new teachers and networking. A science specialist school collaborates 
with the Council to offer additional support and training. A school bid for maths and ICT is 
current. 
20. Sudden increase in EAL numbers 
The Council has increased its teacher support team and training programme. The Council 
has also increased language support in co-operation with employers for the largely East 
European communities. Good practice in schools is identified and shared. The next step is 
more sophisticated tracking and analysis of individual pupils’ progress since numbers 
remain statistically small. 
For full details of targets and timescales, please see School Improvement 
Service Plan. 
 

Making a positive contribution 

 
The JAR rated Positive Contribution as ‘good’. (3). 
 
Related evidence: JAR self-assessment (pp 16-18 and 24-25) 
   JAR Report (pp 21-23) 
   JAR Performance Improvement Action Plan 
   Children and Young People’s Plan (pp 35-37) 
                                APA Dataset. 
 
The 5 main areas for improvement from the JAR report are: 
1. Improving consultation and participation and its impact, at county level. 
This has improved significantly, for example: 
• A Shadow Children and Young People’s Partnership Board is now in place since Jan. ’06 

and meets regularly.  The Shadow Board comprise young people representing a range 
of backgrounds and minority groups.  They are helping to produce a CYP version of the 
CYP Plan which is currently in a final draft.  Two young people from this group were 
elected to sit on the CYP Partnership Board. 

• The Herefordshire Youth Council was set up in March, ‘06 following elections. There are 
19 young people on the Council plus a further 4 from the Youth Council Action Group. 
The group is meeting regularly including a 2 day residential event.  They have a clear 
vision, terms of reference and a dedicated website. 

• The Youth Council are discussing their representation at the UK Youth Parliament. 
• In addition to the work with the Shadow Partnership and the Youth Council the Youth 

29



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 20 of 27 

Service routinely holds local Youth Forums in which young people develop and present 
their views.  Members have become more confident and are able to represent the 
views of others in public discussion.   

Other Consultation with Young People  
• The Council now has a consultation strategy and is adopting the Hear By Right 

standards. All appropriate partners have been informed.   
• The Children’s Fund has many examples of involving young people in the running of its 

work.  One example is the evaluation panel made up of young people.  This panel 
routinely visit the projects supported by the CF to form evaluations.  Their findings are 
then presented to the full CF Partnership. 

• Extended Schools Remodelling Programme has included young people from school 
(years 4-11) in four out of five workshops.  

2. To provide greater involvement for children and young people with LDD in 
the planning and review at individual level.   

(See also Transitions Work- Being Healthy page 11) 
As part of supporting self-evaluation of SEN provision, a pilot group has been trialling 
‘Voice of the Child’ activities designed to support children with LDD in giving their views.  
This will be evaluated and extended in the Autumn term, ‘06. 
3. Further support to help develop appreciation of other cultures. 
• The Education Race Equality Officer has developed a comprehensive programme of 

support to schools directly aimed at improving pupil appreciation and understanding of 
cultures other than their own.   

• The programme includes the distribution of resources to schools e.g. the Heartstone 
Project, the wide use of persona dolls and the local Healthy Schools website. 

4. Ensure that those youngsters most at risk of anti-social behaviour are  
identified and reached. 

Steps to further improve this area are in place and more are planned:   
• Measures to identify young people at risk of anti-social behaviour and to reduce that 

risk, was judged as being satisfactory by JAR.  At a strategic level, partnership work is 
good but at the operational level there is mixed success at reaching the groups most at 
risk.  The YOS target for 2006/7 is to have a 2% reduction in direct/first time entrants.  
They are planning to meet this target by a significantly expanded prevention provision.  
This will be achieved by the recruitment of a full-time prevention manager and 
extending the work of the Children’s Fund.  The Children’s Fund Panel (aka Youth 
Inclusion and Support Panel – YISP) now covers the whole county and the age range 
has been expanded up to 17 years.  In addition, YOS plan to recruit an additional 
parenting worker and hopefully a restorative justice worker from 2007.  The Prevent 
and Deter strand of the POPOs strategy is now in place with active involvement of all 
appropriate agencies.  The Children and Young People’s Plan identified reducing anti-
social behaviour as a priority and outlines the actions required and planned. 

• In terms of re-offending after 24 months, the Hereford and Worcester YOS have done 
reasonably well.  From the baseline in 2001 there has been an improvement generally 
in the percentages of young people at pre-court, first tier and custody stages.  Robust 
intervention from all agencies, in particular the YOS, will ensure this trend continues. 

• Since 2001/2 the rates of children Looked After issued with a final warning, reprimand 
or conviction in the county has fallen.  Herefordshire has been consistently and 
significantly better than the national average since 2002/3.  The work of the Children 
and Young People Directorate’s specific team to support children Looked After and the 
local YOT will ensure that this good work is continued.   Consultation with children 
Looked After was judged by the JAR to be good. The Total Respect programme is 
being used to encourage greater uptake of the Children’s Rights and Advocacy Service. 

• The participation of Herefordshire children Looked After during their reviews has been 
good with 88% communicating their views compared to only 83% nationally. 

30



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 21 of 27 

• Acceptable Behaviour Contracts are used by the Police and YOS to reduce anti-social 
behaviour.  Recent steps to involve schools and educational support services are being 
developed further. 

• A 12 month programme is being developed in schools to provide diversionary activities 
for vulnerable young people.  It is proposed that 4 projects per school term, for up to 
10 young people, are held. 

• Herefordshire Housing and other Registered Social Landlords are delivering an anti-
social behaviour session at the forthcoming Crucial Crew events. 

• In addition to the work outlined above, the CYPP identifies several further actions to 
ensure better outcomes on antisocial behaviour are achieved, e.g. identification of 
persistent truants along with appropriate follow-up measures, development of 
parenting courses and family support.   

5. Delivery of the Young Person’s Substance Misuse Plan (Drug Action) 

• Implementation of the plan is carried out by a sub-group of the Herefordshire 
Community Safety and Drugs Partnership (HCSDP).  Over the last 6 months real 
improvements have been made in the commissioning and planning processes for this 
area; a clear, focused plan with relevant targets has just been finalised for 2006/7.  
The partnership also now has a Commissioner in post to ensure service level 
agreements are adhered to and performance assessed against them. 

• We are still awaiting some year end performance figures. However, the YOT Drugs 
worker has performed particularly well, with 98% of Young Offenders being screened 
for substance misuse; 85% of those who require specialist assessment receiving it 
within 5 days and 97% who needed Tier 2 to 4 intervention receiving it within 10 
working days.  

• HCSDP are currently undergoing a review of performance against targets, delivery 
structures and processes; areas for improvement are currently being identified.  
Herefordshire has just been identified for and agreed to participate in the High Focus 
Area Phase 2 work, with the Home Office and DfES; we shall be one of 30 partnerships 
across the country.  Areas identified for work are:  local delivery and accountability; 
early identification/targeted interventions with children Looked After; children of 
substance misusing parents and Tier 3 treatment provision. 

 

Other Factors  
Schools 

• All Herefordshire schools have a school council.  In order to satisfy the criteria for 
National Healthy School Status (NHSS) students have to be actively involved in 
decision-making.  To achieve NHSS schools also have to have in place effective policies 
on drugs, bullying, behaviour, sex and relationships education and physical activity and 
it is a requirement that students are consulted on all school policies.  Due to their 
ongoing support to schools, the Healthy Schools team are very confident that 54% of 
the county’s schools will achieve the status before December 2006 and all schools by 
2008 (LAA). 

• Data from OFSTED reports September 2005 – March 2006 show the good work done 
by schools in regard to making a positive contribution. Including PRUs, 3 schools 
achieved outstanding (Grade 1), 15 achieved good (2) and 3 achieved satisfactory (3).  
No schools were judged as being inadequate (4).  The Healthy Schools work will 
ensure this is sustained. 

• In 2003/4 secondary permanent and fixed-term exclusions were above the regional but 
below the national average.  Permanent exclusions, however, fell by 15% in 2004/5.  
Primary permanent exclusions in 2003/4 were in line with both regional and national 
averages with fixed term exclusions notably below both these averages.  This position 
was maintained in 2004/5.  The Children’s Services Directorate and the secondary 
Headteachers group are currently working together to improve consistency in 

31



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 22 of 27 

exclusions and to explore further support for KS4 students with challenging behaviour. 
Youth Service 

• The numbers of young people aged 13-19 reached by the service has gradually 
increased since 2003 - 4 when new criteria and standards were introduced which 
required more intensive work with a smaller number of young people. Herefordshire is 
not achieving the national targets in three of the four key performance areas but has 
maintained steady improvement in all areas over the last 3 years.  

• The youth service leads on the consultation and involvement of young people and has 
held countywide text elections for the Youth Council, which is an independent and 
autonomous body, and in the future will support the Shadow Children and Young 
People’s Partnership Board. These two groups will be responsible for the new Youth 
Opportunity Fund distribution totalling £165,000pa. 

• Through its partnerships with the Voluntary Youth Work Sector, a much wider group of 
young people are supported in making positive contributions in their local areas. We 
will be working through these partnerships to increase volunteering opportunities for 
young people through the new national ‘v’ volunteering organisation. 

Connexions 
Herefordshire Connexions plan to continue their range of projects that either involves 
young people through consultation and decision making or preventive work with those 
deemed to be most at risk of anti-social behaviour. These include: 
• Positive Activities for Young People – a range of diversionary activities for young people 

in Hereford city; 
• TASK – working with young people in school year 11 assessed as needing help to build 

confidence, self esteem etc to better enable them to make a successful transition; 
• New Projects – Summer activities for young people who have left school but have not 

been offered employment, education or training; 
• Consultation – a part-time worker is employed to consult with each of the 22 

categories of vulnerable young people; 
• Recruitment - Connexions maintain a pool of young people who are trained to actively 

assist in the recruitment of staff. 
For full details of targets and timescales, please see Youth Service Plan, YOS 
Business Plan and Young Person’s Substance Misuse Plan. 
 

Achieving economic well-being 

 
The JAR rated Achieving Economic Well-Being as ‘adequate’.  (2) 
 
Related evidence:  JAR Self-Assessment (pp 18-19 and 25-26) 

JAR Report (pp 24-26) 
JAR Performance Improvement Action Plan 
Children and Young People’s Plan (pp 38-40) 
APA Dataset 
 

The JAR followed shortly after a very positive Area Wide (14-19) Inspection and ministerial 
acknowledgement of a very good example of an AWI Action Plan resulting from this.  The 
JAR agenda was broader and, in addition to the issues raised in the AWI, identified areas 
for development with regard to accommodation and to the provision of childcare places. 
1. Housing provision for vulnerable young people and families 
• The Council has brought homelessness and Housing Advice Services back in-house with 

a renewed focus on prevention including family mediation and a Safe Moves Project.  
Use of B&B accommodation for all client groups is reducing and the out-turn of 
homeless acceptances by the Council has reduced form 510 in 04/05 to 401 in 05/06 
exceeding targets for 05/06 and 06/07. 

32



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 23 of 27 

• Herefordshire met targets for affordable housing in 05/06 and has set enhanced targets 
for properties built and acquired during 2006/07 @ 161 units.  Strategic Housing and 
Social Care are providing £500k to secure 6-10 units of additional accommodation for 
care leavers off the open market.  An additional 2 self contained flats are being 
provided in partnership with a local housing association. 

2. Provision of childcare places 
Based on the 04/06 Action Plan analysis and audit carried out by the Children’s Information 
Service CIS for the EYDCP – Herefordshire were asked to create 856 out of school places.  
For the period April, 2004 – March, 2006 Herefordshire created 951 places.  Successive 
audits and the JAR Report, however, have highlighted the need for more out of school 
places particularly in rural areas and places were not always conveniently placed for 
parents.  However, providing school places may not be economically viable or convenient 
for users.  More recently a significant proportion of childminders have been meeting the 
community needs in the more rural areas. 
3. Post-16 Strategy and Transition Planning for young people with LDD 
• (Please see point 10 Being Healthy).  The multi-agency task force is coordinating the 

work of the Vulnerable Young People sub-groups of the 14-19 Strategy Group. 
• Transition Pathway resourcing will be enhanced and the scope of the work extended.  

Short-listing is under way for 2 posts – a lead worker and a transitions worker.  The 
remit is extended to cover more vulnerable young people, including all those in special 
schools and PRUs; those with EBD and mental health problems and children Looked 
After. 

4. Post-16 staying on rates 
The Connexions Activity Survey in November 2005 recorded an increase of 1% in the 
proportion of the year 11 leavers remaining in full-time education (71.7% to 72.7%).  
There was a reduction of 1.7%, however, in the proportion entering work-based learning, 
giving a small overall reduction of 0.7% in entry to all forms of post-16 learning.  The LSC 
has a reduced budget for work-based learning and increasing success in the achievement 
of full apprenticeship frameworks, which qualify for a significant achievement payment, - 
53% locally, compared to 47% regionally and nationally – means that fewer 
apprenticeships can be supported, although priority is being given to 16-18 year olds.  
Overall participation rates in learning in the 16-18 age range were ahead of the previous 
year’s figures at the end of March, 2006.  (Date source: DfES NCCIS). 
5. NEET (including children Looked After who are NEET) 
The proportion of 16-18 year olds who are NEET stood at 7.1% in Herefordshire at the end 
of March.  At the same time, participation rates in education, employment and training 
(EET) for other vulnerable groups stood at: LDD 74% (national 76%); Care Leavers (52%) 
NB: This is a small cohort of 25; Teenage mothers 27% (national 24%). 
The next key NEET target date is November 2006, when the target to be achieved is 4.9%.  
Major factors affecting progress towards achievement of the target are:- 
• A larger 16-18 cohort in the Connexions sub-region (up 1.8%); 
• A detailed analysis of NEET joiners and leavers shows the majority have some post-

school experience of EET and significantly fewer young people are leaving the NEET 
group for jobs, when compared with the same period for the previous year. 

The local strategy for hitting the NEET target includes:- 
• Maximising the take up of available opportunities, including running a clearing house 

system over the summer months with opportunity providers; 
• Developing new opportunities, where possible, in demand areas:  see 7 below; 
• Enhancing job search skill of young people via Job Clubs run by Connexions PAs. 
As well as responding to the JAR, partners are maintaining the momentum of the AWI 
Action Plan and improving performance against other key indicators. 
6. The AWI Action Plan is set out in detail and monitored on a regular basis by 

the 14-19 Strategy Group, using a traffic light system.  Good progress is 

33



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 24 of 27 

being made:- 
• Some NEET young people have produced a DVD aimed at helping their peers.  The 

DVD will have accompanying notes and a lesson plan for use in school. 
• A comprehensive 16-19 prospectus was produced in 2005 and went via schools to year 

11 pupils and directly to parents at home.  This provides a good platform for the 14-19 
Area Prospectus.  A working group is already established. 

• Research with a range of 16-17 year old drop-outs and other NEET young people 
identified.  A range of improvements in preparation, including better careers education 
and guidance and greater awareness of access to PA support and to student services 
support in colleges.  Another important outcome is a standard data-sharing form on 
early leavers, as a means of prompt referral for further advice and support and also as 
the basis for ongoing analysis of early leaver data. 

• Schools and colleges will shortly be consulted on an updated framework for 
information, advice and guidance (IAG) and on the respective responsibilities of 
Connexions and of schools/colleges.  The framework anticipates the requirements of 
the national 14-19 Implementation Plan and of Youth Matters for local consultation.  
The Learner Support Sub-Group of the 14-19 Strategy Group has made 
recommendations for improving access to impartial IAG. 

• Proposals to increase resourcing for, and the scope of, the Children’s Rights and 
Advocacy Service are being considered by the CYP Strategic Board. 

• Key occupational sector pathways have been mapped as an aid to career planning. 
An initial set of performance indicators for 14-19 have been identified which can be 
benchmarked and, where appropriate, drilled down to individual provider level.  This will 
inform work with Children’s Services on a single system of performance measurement. 
7. The range of opportunities has been enhanced for all young people, including 

those from vulnerable groups:- 
• The Increased Flexibility Programme (IFP) at KS4 currently has 2,340 students enrolled 

across KS4, at levels from entry level to level 2.  Recruitment for 2006-07 will anticipate 
14-19 requirements by working to align timetables and to fund only courses offered by 
schools in partnership with other schools and/or providers. 

• The ALPs programme is ESF funded.  Provision includes a range of short, accredited 
courses – basic skills, ASDAN and DoE – and extended work experience.  A total of 245 
students from 15 schools were enrolled at the end of February.  ESOL courses will be 
added in 2006-07 for the children of migrant workers. 

Other provision includes:- 
• A Young Apprenticeship programme in catering and hospitality.  
• ESF-funded pre-E2E provision is now in place 
• November and January starts for NEET young people on broad, general vocational 

programmes at the College of Technology. 
• PAYP with additional £13,000 funding from local sources. 
• The UProject for year 11 leavers who have not received an offer of learning or work.   
• The Task Project, a local collaboration between Connexions and the Youth Service. 
• Consultancy to generate additional work-based learning opportunities. 
• A multi-agency “Young Mums to Be” programme. 
• Mencap working with local providers to deliver accredited work experience. 
8. Post-16 Achievement  
(See Enjoy and Achieve page 16 & 17) 
9. College Provision 
Phase 1 of the Folly Lane campus development has been approved.  Phase 2 has been 
approved in principle.  Land based provision and the development of complementary 
curriculum is likely to be further enhanced by the incorporation of the whole Holme Lacy 
campus within Herefordshire College of Technology. 
For full details of targets and timescales see 14-19 ActionPlan (version3). 

34



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 25 of 27 

PART D    The Management of Services for children and young people 

 
A new structure for the Directorate has been created, and from 1st April 2006 is being 
implemented. The new structure will facilitate integrated working, joint commissioning and 
effective performance management.  
1. In what areas of work have the most sustained improvements been achieved 

and why? 
Since the JAR Inspection a range of service delivery and performance management 
improvements have been secured.  The JAR Performance Improvement Action Plan has 
been used to focus on performance management discipline alongside service 
improvements.  The renewed Corporate focus on performance management has further 
promoted this priority.  The most sustained improvements are in: 
• Safeguarding arrangements. 
• Systems for performance management. 
• Tackling suitable housing for vulnerable groups. 
• Improving outcomes for children with LDD. 
• Participation of children and young people in planning and developing services. 
2. Have new or joint approaches to service delivery and partnership working 

been successful? In what way? 

• The JAR commended the strength of partnership working. The CYP’s Partnership Board 
has continued to develop and lead the work. At service level, successful partnership 
working has been achieved in transition planning; in the implementation of the 
Children’s Centre Programme; in the effective development of the healthy schools 
initiative (LAA), and in the first year pilot of extended schools.  

• Effective inter-agency working in the Portage and ‘HappiKids’ schemes at the Green 
Croft Centre has produced a clear analysis of need and gap analysis; resulting in the 
appointment of a shared Care Social Worker 01.06.06.  This will increase assessment of 
potential shared carers and provide quicker access to services. 

• The extended schools strategy is being developed in partnership with headteachers and 
the Early Years Service.  The Council sees this as a major tool to increase early 
intervention.   

• There are joint working arrangements for children with complex needs whose needs 
cannot be met locally with a pooled budget in place (Section 31 Agreement).   

• The Children’s Centre SureStart programme continues to be successful in joint 
approaches to service delivery. 

3. How effective are your performance management and review processes 
overall? 

• The development and implementation of improved performance management is a top 
priority for the CYPS Directorate.  The recent DfES commissioned review of the JAR 
Performance Improvement Action Plan also reinforced this as a priority.  The Council 
has commissioned the Institute of Public Care (IPC) to support and challenge the 
Directorate in delivering improved performance management and monitoring systems.  
Over the next 9 months the Council will be working with IPC to modernise and 
implement robust performance management systems with dedicated programmes of 
staff development and training.  The Directorate has an Annual Operating Plan with 
links to the Corporate Plan, CYPPlan and staff review and development arrangements. 

• The Senior Management Team continues to be focussed on delivery of the JAR 
Performance Improvement Action Plan.  The performance management arrangements 
for this are in line with the corporate overhaul of performance management systems 
(see JAR Performance Improvement Action Plan for details).   

• The new Directorate structure has a dedicated Performance Management function. This 
area of responsibility will include data collation, analysis, and benchmarking with 
regular performance reports being shared between the unit and Service Managers.  

35



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 26 of 27 

• The Planning, Audit and Review Managers function in children’s social work has been 
strengthened, as have all managerial and supervisory activities in this area.   

• The CYP’s Partnership Board will oversee delivery of improved outcomes for children 
and young people (please see chart on page 7 for proposed arrangements). 

4. How well are you developing your workforce to manage change? 

• The Council is, with the support of Children’s Workforce Development Council, planning 
and developing a Children’s Workforce Strategy for the local area. The corporate Head 
of HR is leading on this with a dedicated project manager. An interagency planning 
meeting is being held in mid June facilitated by CWDC. 

• The Council is also rolling out the Championing Children programme across children’s 
services with OPM – July-Oct 06. In the creation of the new Directorate and in the 
development of integrated working, training is being organised to focus staff on 
actioning outcomes and to develop a shared set of skills, knowledge and behaviours for 
managers, through the ‘Championing Children’ programme (see JAR Performance 
Improvement Action Plan). Staff are attending GOWM Learning Sets on the Change for 
Children programme (Commissioning and Workforce Strategy). 

• An example of significant challenge is a review of school provision being undertaken 
which will explore how standards of teaching and learning and the challenges of the 
wider agenda can be met in a situation of falling rolls.  

 
The use of resources   
5. What evidence do you have that you are providing value for money?  
The Corporate Assessment concluded that the Council provides good services at good 
value.  The Corporate Assessment and JAR noted the Council also provides good or very 
good universal services, and good individual services.  Earlier BV reviews, recent user 
comments, benchmarking and inspection reports suggest that value for money is being 
achieved. 
6. Is your expenditure in line with projections and if not what actions have you 

taken to resolve this? 
Budget management is good, and early warning systems and contingency sums have been 
created to avoid any major budgetary problems.  These funds have been created to meet 
variable and unpredictable demand. 
7. Have you made any significant shift in expenditure to support priorities? Has 

this been effective? 
In every year since 2000/01 additional cash from within the Council’s own resources 
(£4.7M over 3 years) has been found for social care.  Within the limited funding available, 
Gershon efficiencies have been sought from the School Transport Budget. Savings achieved 
in this area are being used, with money from the Council, to implement the JAR 
Performance Improvement Action Plan and associated priorities. Budgetary provision for 
SEN and to support non-English speaking families has also increased.  In relation to the 
JAR Report recommendations, additional resources have been allocated as follows: 
Corporate contingency budget across all social care services £1.3m; funding for the JAR 
Performance Improvement Action Plan £100k; LSCB funding £149k and additional 
preventative service funding of £70k already identified within the Council and also by 
partners (REC 12).  Three additional OTs appointed to improve access to the service. (REC 
8) 
8. How effective is your commissioning of services?  How do you know? 
The authority will be adopting the DfES Joint Planning and Commissioning Framework as 
its system for developing commissioning of children’s services. A PCT manager has been 
placed with the authority to work on the development of joint commissioning 
arrangements. This will bring together existing good practice in a coordinated 
arrangement.  
9. What has been the impact of any pooled resources?  

36



APA and JAR self-assessment – Part 2: template for completion     

   Page 27 of 27 

A pooled budget for children with complex needs is in place, allowing the needs of the 
individual to be met by the various agencies through panel arrangements and effective 
joint commissioning.  There is effective joint commissioning using pooled budgets for 
children requiring out of County placements.  In addition there is development work to 
commission jointly supported housing and schooling along with Shropshire and 
Worcestershire. Initial work on recommissioning of family support services is under way. 
 
Capacity to improve 
10.  How far does the council have the capacity to improve its services for 

children and young people? 
There is strong Member support for children and young people’s services. The Cabinet is 
fully committed to ensuring the best possible outcomes for all children and young people in 
Herefordshire.  The Council is taking the necessary steps for future improvement 
particularly to improve performance management and the quality of service provision at 
Corporate and Directorate level.  Corporate and Directorate restructuring is designed to 
provide the necessary capacity to ensure that services for children and young people will 
be delivered effectively. The Herefordshire Connects Programme is transforming the way 
the Council conducts its business and will provide investment for future service delivery.   
11.  How far do local services for children and young people overall have the 

capacity to improve?  
The strong history of partnership working is enabling the further development of Children’s 
Trust Arrangements. The framework and plans to monitor and review services and to 
prioritise are being developed along the lines of the proposed structure chart for the CYP’s 
partnership.  The impact of falling numbers of children; greater numbers with high levels of 
need, present a challenging picture; effective steps are being taken to mitigate the impact, 
including enhanced intelligence gathering; up to date information about needs; informed 
priority setting and service commissioning. 
12.  What needs to be done to bring about further improvement? 

• Effective implementation and monitoring of action planning. 
• Robust commissioning and delivery of plans. 
• A thorough and effective performance management culture and system. 
• Clear and confident leadership.  
• Improved communications systems within children’s services to provide clarity of 

purpose and to align everyone’s efforts to improve outcomes for children and young 
people. 

13.  What are the barriers to improvement and what strategies do you have to 
overcome them? 
Barriers to improvement are perceived to be: 
• Gaps in performance management systems. 
• The engagement of staff at all levels and in all agencies. 
• Increasing the pace and improving the coordination of change. 
• Modernising frameworks and systems for service monitoring and delivery. 
These issues are being addressed strategically through: 
• Robust action to develop and embed performance management systems with specialist 

external support. 
• Enhanced communication channels. 
• Levering added capacity internally within the service and from the corporate centre as 

well as from other agencies such as OPM and IPC. 
 

 

37



38



CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 19TH JUNE, 2006 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Sue Fiennes, Director of Children's Services on 
01432 260039 

 

 
JOINTAREAREVIEWIMPROVEMENTPLANreport0.doc  

 JOINT AREA REVIEW IMPROVEMENT PLAN 

Report By: SUE FIENNES, DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN'S 
SERVICES 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To advise on the latest position on progress with the JAR improvement Plan. 

Financial Implications 

2. The Directorate budget for 2006-07 has an allocation of £100 k. to contribute to 
improvement on safeguarding and funds have been secured to deliver further 
safeguarding checks. 

Considerations 

3. The attached revised Joint Area Review (JAR) improvement plan (Appendix 1) has 
now been accepted by Department for Education & Skills (DfES). 

4. The DfES review is concluded and discussions are on-going between the Council 
and DfES about the proposals to ensure sustained improvement at the right pace.  
The DfES review report will go forward to the Minister for Children & Families with 
recommendations as to how to move forward. 

5. There is a significant statement in the report which confirms the improvements and 
actions already completed: 

“the key message … is that the response to the JAR has been positive and services 
have improved as a result”. 

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT Committee note the progress outlined in the report and request 
any further information to assist in measuring the outcomes 
outlined by the Committee on 31st May. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

None identified. 

AGENDA ITEM 7

39



40



 

 

 

1

APPENDIX 1 

 

Herefordshire  

Change for Children Programme 

 
Action for a Better Herefordshire for all 

Children and Young People 

 

 

 

 
JAR PERFORMANCE IMPROVEMENT ACTION PLAN 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

We are delighted to endorse this Plan. It demonstrates the 

Council’s commitment to raise the standard for children’s 

services. It is an integral part of all we are doing with our 

partners to improve outcomes for Children and Young 

People in Herefordshire.   
 

Roger Phillips, Leader of the Council 
Neil Pringle, Chief Executive 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

41



 

 

 

2

  

The Commitment of the Local Authority & Its 

Partners: 

 

We are committed as partners to the delivery of this 

Improvement Plan as an integral part of all we are doing 
to improve outcomes for children, young people and their 

families in Herefordshire. 
 
 

Leader of the Council    ________________ 

            Roger Phillips 
 

Chief Executive     ________________ 
            Neil Pringle 

 
Deputy Chief Executive of the PCT ________________ 

            Simon Hairsnape 
 

Director of Children’s Services  ________________ 
            Sue Fiennes 

 
Director - Adult & Community Services_________________ 

             Geoff Hughes 
 

Divisional Commander, West Mercia __________________ 

     Police  Mark Turner 
 

Chief Executive Connexions  __________________ 
                Roger Little 

 
Chief Executive – L & Skills Council __________________ 

 
                 Sharon Gray 

 
Chief Executive – The Alliance          ______________________ 
        Helen Horton 
 

 
 

42



 

 

 

3

INDEX to PLAN 
 
 
1. Council & Partners commitment to JAR IP  2 
Contents of the PLAN 3 
2. Introduction to the Plan 4-6 
3. Progress Timeline 7 
4. Table of Recommendations 8 
5. OUTCOME -Action and Progress Sheets for each 

recommendation 
 

9-26 

5.1. Recommendations 1 10 
5.2. Recommendation 2 15 
5.3. Recommendation 4 16-18 

5.4. Recommendation 3 19-47 
5.5. Recommendations 5 & 6 19-21 
5.6. Recommendation 2 22-24 
5.7. Recommendation 7  25-27 
5.8. Recommendations 8,9.10,11 16=18 
5.9. Recommendation 14 18=19 
5.10. Recommendations 12,13,15,17 20-25 
5.11. Recommendation 16 36-41 

 

Appendix 1 Linking JAR I Plan to Change for  Children  

27 

Appendix 2 Linking of JAR IP to Other Plans 28-29 
Appendix 3 –Performance Management Arrangements 30-34 
Appendix 4 Additional Capacity identified 35 
Appendix 5 Achievements so far 36 
Appendix 6 Challenges remaining 37 
Appendix7  38 
Appendix 8 Risk Log 39 
Appendix 9 – CYPP List of partners 40 
 
 

 

43



 

 

 

4

INTRODUCTION 
 
PURPOSE of the Plan 

 
In general: 
 
• To enable the Council and its partners to deliver the best possible 

children’s services and, 
• To achieve better outcomes for children and young people in 

Herefordshire 
 
In particular: 
 

• To set out what the Council and its partners is doing and will do to 
respond to the Recommendations of the JAR Report of December 
2005  

• To provide a focus for partnership working to deliver the 
improvements required in service delivery 

• To give clarity about accountability and responsibility for the actions 
required to address the recommendations  

 
Development of the Plan 
 
This Action Plan has been drawn up under the direction of the Director of 
Children’s Services. It is subject to the approval of the Chief Executive, 
Lead Cabinet Member for Children’s Services and the Leader of the 
Council.  The plan will be fully endorsed by Cabinet  
Key partner organisations, including the PCT, Police and the Voluntary 
Sector, have been directly involved in producing the Plan. The Children 
and Young People’s Partnership Board - the membership of which is 
constituted in accordance with the requirements of The Children Act 2004 
– will endorse this updated version of the Action Plan.   
 
DfES required further revisions of the draft plan produced at the beginning 
of February 2006 and this version is the responsive to the comments 
made. This version will go forward to dfES for approval in May 2006. 
 
The Format of the plan  

 
This document sets out the:-   
 

• Ownership of the plan by the CYPP and how that will work  
• Integration of this plan with the wider Children’ and Young People’s 

Plan and Local Area Agreement  
• The response to ALL the JAR recommendations and how these will 

be brought together in a coherent programme of action in terms of 
timescale and service area  

• Link between the outcomes of the plan and the 5 Every Child 
Matters Outcomes  

 

44



 

 

 

5

The plan is presented in a way which:-  
• Identifies the person responsible for each action by name  
• Denotes expected outcomes and measures for those outcomes 
• Describes the timescale for achieving each recommended 

improvement, and the milestones which will measure progress.   
• The plan is set out in 3 parts  

 Part 1 - A summary chart to provide a quick overview and timeline  
 Part 2 – An accessible plan for general use and co-ordination 
 describing outcomes, organisation, and milestones  

Part 3 – Detailed action plans, which are located in service areas 
and held by the identified responsible officer (the service plans and 
team plans)  

 
 This document contains Parts 1 & 2.  
 
 
Managing Delivery of the Plan 

 
Clear arrangements are in place to ensure that there is clear responsibility 
and accountability for the delivery of the Plan. 
 
There has also been an analysis of additional capacity requirements to 
manage and deliver the Plan. 
 
In appendices at the end of the Plan there is further information on: 
 
Strategic management 

1. An illustration of the fit between this document and other plans 
2. Linkage of the JAR recommendations to Children’s trust 

arrangements / Change for Children and the proposed Outcome 
based arrangements 

3. Performance Management Arrangements for Children’s Services 
including Delivery of the JAR Action Plan &, in particular: Review 
arrangements related to the local application of the national 
improvement cycle  

 
Operational management 

4. A note of additional capacity already identified to deliver 
5. Key achievements to date 
6. Summary of remaining capacity pressures (human resources, 

financial resources, IT, structure) identified  
7. A note of communication and staff development plans to ensure 

robust and sustainable improvement 
8. Risk log for the Plan’s delivery 
 
 

 

 

 

 

45



 

 

 

6

Progress Requirements – Responsible Issue leads 

 
JAR Action Group 
 
 

Sue Fiennes – Chair, Director of Children & Young People’s Services 
Henry Lewis – HOS – Lead for Stay Safe Recommendations 
Anne Heath HOS – Lead with SD for Be Healthy Recommendations 
Sue Doheny – PCT – Lead with AH for Be Healthy recommendations 
George Salmon – HOS Lead for Achieving Economic Well-Being and  

  Service Management recommendations 
Steve Martin – Corporate Policy and Research Manager 
Alan Blundell – Plan Monitoring 
Amy Weir - Consultant 
 
Others attend to cover specific recommendations.  
 
Herefordshire Council 
 
SF= Sue Fiennes DCS 
AH= Anne Heath HOS 
HL = Henry Lewis HOS 
GS = George Salmon HOS 
SMA-Steve Martin – Corporate Policy and Research Manager  
LM= Linda Maden Service Manager 
JD=Jon Dudley Service Manager 
SMe= Steve Merrell Service Manager 
RT=Ruby Thomas, Team Manager – Planning, audit and review 
JR-John Ralph, Youth Services Manager 
LS=Lorna Selfe, Change for Children Manager 
JH=Julie Holmes, Corporate ICT 
BW= Brian Twitty, Early Years 
SA=Sue Alexander, Adults’ Services 
 
DJ= David Johnson Corporate HR 
ST=Sheila Thompson HR 
 
Hereford PCT 
 

SD=Sue Doheny, Children’s Services Manager,  PCT 
LR=Lyn Renton Designated Nurse PCT 
MP=Marcia Perry, PCT/HCC – Service Manager for Disability 
 
Other Partners 

HH=Helen Horton =The Alliance (Voluntary and Community Sector) 
RL=Roger Little, Chief Executive, Connexions 
 

 

46



 

09/06/2006 

7

TIMELINE FOR PROGRESS ON JAR RECOMMEDNATIONS 

REC. Jan06 Feb 06 Mar 06 Apr 06 May 06 Jun 06 Jul 06 Aug 06 Sept 06 Oct 06 Nov 06 Dec 06 

1             

2             

3             

4             

5             

6             

7             

8             

9             

10             

11             

12             

13             

14             

15             

16             

17             

LEGEND  

 Recommendation progress on track / completed 

 On track 

 Not on track 

 No progress 

 

 

 

4
7



 

09/06/2006 

8

THE JOINT AREA REVIEW RECOMMENDATIONS 
Stay Safe  

1. Ensure that appropriate criteria are set for the involvement of the local 
authority’s professionally qualified social care staff in child protection 
cases  

2. Ensure that these criteria are clearly understood be all concerned and 
consistently applied in practice  

3. Ensure that there is an effective workforce strategy to address the 
recruitment and retention problems within the local authorities care 
service 

4. Ensure that a written record is made of all contacts with the social care 
duty team 

5. Ensure there is a single referral, assessment and service planning 
framework for children in need which is consistently and effectively 
applied in practice  

6. Ensure that the training guidance and support needs of all staff 
contributing to the implementation of the Child Concern Model are 
addressed, both in terms of the time required to undertake the tasks 
involved and the necessary skills.  

Be healthy  

7. Ensure effective implementation of the multi-agency healthcare 
planning procedures for looked after children 

8. Improve access to occupation therapy services  

9. Ensure appropriate social care support for the families of children with 
learning difficulties and disabilities 

10. Ensure better co-ordinated planning for all children with learning 
difficulties and disabilities 

11.Improve communication with parents and young people with learning 
difficulties and disabilities in terms of both the assessment of need and   
planning of provision 

14. Improve access to hospital in-patient provision to meet children and     
      young people’s mental health needs (tier 4 CAMHS) 

Achieving Economic well-being  

16.  Improve housing provision for both single young people and families  

Service Management 

12.  Improve action planning to deliver strategic aims and objectives and,     
in particular, ensure that associated resourcing needs are met  

13. Improve information systems within the LA’s social care services to 
enable better management oversight and evaluation of service 
effectiveness 

15. Improve co-ordination of consultation with children and young people 
to support their participation in strategic planning and review  

17. Strengthen performance management processes involving elected 
members and senior officers at all levels including the Partnership Board 
and the LA’s Children’s Scrutiny Committee 

 

48



 

09/06/2006 

9

JAR 
recommendation 

JAR 
timescale 

Outcomes/ 
Key requirement 

Action 
Milestones 

Success 
Criteria 

Lead Due 
date 

On 
track? 

 

ECM OUTCOME STAY SAFE 

1. Ensure that 

appropriate criteria 
are set for the 
involvement of the 

LA’s professionally 
qualified social care 

staff in child 
protection cases  

Immediate 
(Jan – June 

06) 

Effective targeting 
of social work 
assessment and 
intervention on the 
most vulnerable 
children 

1) Review & revise 
threshold criteria for 
duty social work 
involvement 

New criteria drawn up. SMe 
 
 

LM 

03/0
6 

 

   2) Seek advice and 
challenge from high 
performing LAs  

 

Advice received, noted and acted 
upon. 

HL 
SMe 
LM 

03/0
6 

 

   3) Introduce new 
protocols and 
thresholds  

Revised criteria; shared and 
agreed across agencies. 
Survey all agencies in June 

SMe 
 

HL 

03/0
6 
 

 

   4) Identify additional 
duty team staff 

Additional posts filled. All cases 
allocated. 
 

LM 04/0
6 

 

   5) Review process 
management and case 
handling in duty and 
consider options for 
change. 

Improvement on PIs for timely 
assessment: PI DIS 1704: CF/C64 

LM 
& RT 

06/0
6 

 

    6) Publish new criteria 
protocols and 
procedures 

All staff using new procedures and 
revised thresholds. 

SMe 04/0
6 

 

4
9



 

09/06/2006 

10

ECM OUTCOME STAY SAFE 

2. Ensure that these 
criteria are clearly 

understood by all 
concerned and 

consistently applied in 
practice 

Immediate 
Jan – June 
06 

Clear supervisory, 
decision making 
and case flow 
arrangements are 
embedded within 
the duty team and 
understood by 
partners 

1) Review and update 
management and 
supervision system for 
duty social workers 

PI Numbers of referrals of CIN 
leading to Initial Assessments on 
target: PI CH143 
 
PI Number of Core Ass on target – 
PI CH145 
 
Supervision log audited 6/12 

LM 
 
 

04/0
6 
 
 
 
 

 

   2) Practice, file and 
peer audit system to be 
developed 

Mthly file audit;  
Quarterly Practice audit; 
Annual peer audit 

LM 
with 
RT 

06/0
6 

 

  Effective 
independent audit 
system for overview 
of duty service and 
all social care in 
place 

3) Establish new 
independent practice 
and performance team 

 Team Manager in post and 
system designed. Team in 
operation and auditing regularly 
 

SF 
AW 
RT 

6/06  

  LSCB effectively 
overseeing all 
safeguarding 
arrangements 
including response 
to new Working 
Together 2006 

4) Confirm LSCB 
arrangements 

LSCB established and reviewing 
use of new criteria; training post 
and development post 
recruitment. Guidance reviewed 
and reissued 

HL 06/0
6 

 

  Local professionals 
know and 
understand criteria 
for social work 

5) New threshold 
booklet widely circulated 
6) Deliver training 
workshops for CCM 

Managers to check staff 
awareness in supervision and 
training sessions. 
Review appropriateness of 

LM 
 
 

SMe / 

4/06 
 
 
 

 

5
0



 

09/06/2006 

11

involvement and 
make appropriate 
referrals 

consultants 6/52 referrals in audits. 
Workshops running March 06 
onwards 

LR  
 
 
 

  Information sharing 
is effective across 
agencies 

7) Information Sharing 
Protocol to be drafted to 
CYPP and agreed. 

IS Protocol in place and agreed by 
CYP’s Partnership. 

LS/SD 06/0
6 

 

ECM OUTCOME STAY SAFE 

 
4. Ensure that a 

written record is made 
of all contacts with the 

social care duty team 

Immediate 
Jan – June 
06 

All contacts with / 
referrals to duty 
social work team 
recorded and 
responded to 
promptly and 
appropriately to 
meet National 
Assessment 
Framework 
timescales 

1) Redesign and 
implement a new 
system for receipt and 
recording of referrals 

PI Numbers of referrals of CIN are 
on target  
 

All duty cases are allocated. 

LM 04/0
6 

 

   2) Embed the new 
process and monitor 
regularly. 

Weekly case tracking and monthly 
file audit 

LM 05/0
6 

 

5
1



 

09/06/2006 

12

 

JAR 
Recommendation 

JAR 
timescale 

Outcomes/ 
Key requirement 

Action 
Milestones 

Success 
Criteria 

Lead Due date On 
track? 

ECM OUTCOME STAY SAFE 

3. Ensure there is an 

effective workforce 
strategy to address 

the recruitment and 
retention problems 

within the local 
authority’s social care 
service.   

Immediate 
Jan – June 

06 

All vacant social 
work posts are 
covered 
 
All vacant social 
work posts are 
covered 

1) Recruit temporary 
staff to cover all vacant 
posts 
2) Advertise for social 
work staff: Develop 
social work recruitment 
campaign with 
Consultants Tribal 
 

All post filled in short term. 
 
 
All posts filled 
 
Good response to adverts. 

 

HL/ST 
 
 
 

MG/ST 

3/06 
 
 
 

04/06 

 

  Reduction in 
turnover of social 
work staff 
 
 

3) Seek views of 
existing staff and seek 
views to inform strategy 

Increasing rate of retention. MG/ST 04/06  

  Effective workforce 
strategy is in place 
to ensure that 
recruitment, 
retention and 
development of 
professional social 
workers is in place 
 

4) Collate data and 
analyse current and 
future social care 
workforce requirements 
as basis for medium to 
long term plan 
 

Improved retention rates – to 
be monitored. 
 
Reduced vacancy rates - to 
be monitored quarterly. 

HL 
 
 

MG 

05/06  

5
2



 

09/06/2006 

13

 
 
 
 
 

 

 Integrate social 
work workforce 
strategy to wider 
HR strategies for 
children’s services 
 

5) Link with & seek 
consultancy from CWDC 
to Widen workforce 
strategy to interagency 
children’s services focus  

Social care workforce needs 
and issues are fully 
embedded within wider 
workforce strategy. 

DJ 
NA 

05/06  

JAR 
recommendation 

JAR 
timescale 

Outcomes/ 
Key requirement 

Action 
Milestones 

Success 
Criteria 

Lead Due 
date 

On 
track? 

ECM OUTCOME STAY SAFE 
 

5. Ensure there is a 

single referral 
assessment and 

service planning 
framework for 
children in need 

which is consistently 
and effectively 

applied in practice 

June –Dec 
2006 - 

Updated Child 
Need Framework 
in place to cover 
the whole 
continuum of 
needs and services 

1) Build on existing 
Child Concern Model to 
develop and agree 
Change for Children 
Child Need Framework 
 

QV Rec.1 as step to CAF 
 
CCM is updated and 
incorporated within CAF 
whole system approach. 
 

 

SMe 
 

AW 

6/06  

5
3



 

09/06/2006 

14

  Effective common 
process system for 
managing the 
identification and 
provision of 
services to 
children with 
additional needs to 
meet requirements 
of national 
Common 
Assessment 

2) Establish 
interagency common 
processes group (CAF) 
to respond to national 
CAF guidance, to 
design local response 
and to develop an 
implementation plan for 
the County 

New CAF, building on CCM, 
is produced and 
disseminated. 
 
No of CAFs completed as 
measure – (Local PI) 
 
 
 

SMe 

LR 
7/06  

  Effective early 
identification of 
and intervention 
with children with 
additional needs – 
linked to Rec. 2 re 
child protection 
and threshold 
criteria 
 

3) Plan and develop a 
pilot project (S Wye 
and Children with 
disabilities) to test out 
new child need 
framework and to 
introduce common 
assessment system and 
lead professionals: 
consider role of referral 
co-ordinators and 
concern panels. 

Learning from pilot is 
captured to inform new 
model. 
 

PI targets for referral. No of 
children identified with 
additional needs in pilot 
area. 

HL 
SMe 

9/06 –  

   4) Improve and 
develop existing 
Directory of services for 
children 
QV Rec. 15. 
 

Directory published BT 12/06  

  Prepare for 5) Identify Lead Officer Index implemented SF 10/06  

5
4



 

09/06/2006 

15

introduction of 
Information 
Sharing Index in 
2007/08 

for Information Sharing 
Index and consider 
requirements 
 

GS 

JAR 
recommendation 

JAR 
timescale 

Outcomes/ 
Key requirement 

Action 
Milestones 

Success 
Criteria 

Lead Due 
date 

On 
track? 

ECM OUTCOME STAY SAFE 
 

6. Ensure the 

training, guidance 
and support needs 

of all staff 
contributing to the 
implementation of 

the Child Concern 
Model are addressed 

both in terms of the 
time required to 
undertake the tasks 

involved and the 
necessary skills 

Training and 
development 
strategy in place 
for staff and 
managers across 
agencies 

Programme and curriculum 
set up. Facilitators in place. 

9/06 
LR 

 

June – Dec 
2006  

 

1)Training for new CAF 
and CCM to be planned 
and implemented 

 

SMe 

 

 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  2) roll out of training 
sessions 

No of staff trained and using 
CAF. 
 
No of CAFs completed. 

SMe 
LR 

10/06  

5
5



 

09/06/2006 

16

JAR 
recommendation 

JAR 
timescale 

Outcomes/ 
Key requirement 

Action 
Milestones 

Success 
Criteria 

Lead Due 
date 

On 
track? 

ECM OUTCOME BE HEALTHY 
 

7. Ensure effective 
implementation of 

the multi-agency 
health care planning 
procedures for 

Looked After 
children 

June – Dec 
2006  

All Looked After 
Children receive 
the best possible 
health care and all 
have a plan 
subject to consent 

1) Review and audit all 
LAC records to check 
for health care plan 

Audit evidence available. PI 
to check target: PI C19. 
 
CC Review chairs to monitor 
assessments completed 

LR 
 

1/06  

  LAC have access 
to all services and 
support required 
to deliver the best 
possible outcomes 
for them 

2) Clear procedures for 
health assessments to 
be agreed 

Procedures in place. 
Review chairs to monitor 
actions to be completed. 

 
LR 
 
JD 

 

RT 

 
3/06 

 

  National Healthy 
Care Standard is 
adopted by the 
CYP’s Partnership 

3) Develop plan for 
implementation of all 
HC Standards 

Hold HCS event 27/6/06 & 
Draft implementation plan 
 
 

LR & 
JD 

10/06  

JAR 
recommendation 

JAR 
timescale 

Outcomes/ 
Key requirement 

Action 
Milestones 

Success 
Criteria 

Lead Due 
date 

On 
track? 

ECM OUTOME BE HEALTHY 
 

8. Improve access to 
occupational therapy 
services  

June-Dec 
2006 

Prompt access to 
OT services is in 
place for all 
relevant cyp 

1) Immediate review of 
OT services to identify 
gaps and needs  

Increase in number of OTs 
 
Standard is access to 
assessment within 12 
weeks: (Local PI) 

SD 4/06  

5
6



 

09/06/2006 

17

ECM OUTOME BE HEALTHY 
 

9. Ensure 
appropriate social 

care support for the 
families of children 

with learning 
difficulties and 
disabilities 

 

June-Dec 
2006 

Effective family 
support and 
casework in place 
for all children with 
disabilities &/or 
learning disability 
and their families / 
carers 

 

1) Family support 
including short term 
breaks to be specified 
and commissioned. 
(Link to recent 
Fostering Inspection)  

 

New service available. 
 
Monitor increase in no of 
breaks provided. 
 
Audit all cases every 6/12 to 
monitor take up  

 

MP 6/06  

   2) Improved support 
and care planning to be 
developed through 
mapping NSF / ECM 
pathways through 
development of CAF 

Local care pathways in place 
and linking to CAF 
processes. 
No of CAF and AF 
assessment completed 
 

MP 11/06  

ECM OUTCOME BE HEALTHY 
 

10. Ensure better co-
ordinated transition 

planning for all 
children with 
learning difficulties 

and disabilities 

June-Dec 
2006 

Transitions 
strategy and 
protocol in place to 
give clear planning 
framework 
 

1) Transitions steering 
group with adults’ 
service to be set up to 
develop strategy. 
 
 

Needs analysis / 
commissioning plan in place 
and joint transitions 
strategy with adult services  
 
Joint protocol in place 
between adults and 
children’s services 

MP 
& SA 

3/06  

   2) Appoint new 
transitions workers & 
Implement new 
processes 

Appointment of staff June 
06 
 
Improved planning for CYP. 

MP 
 
RL 

7/06 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

5
7



 

09/06/2006 

18

Monitor through PI SC5026 
 
Survey CYP and carers to 
QA. 

12/06  
 

11. Improve 
communication with 
parents and young 

people with learning 
difficulties and 

disabilities in terms 
of both the 
assessment of need 

and planning of 
provision 

June-Dec 06 Clear information 
in place for 
children, young 
people and 
families / carers 
through all 
available systems 
QV Rec 15, P23. 

1) To develop and 
implement clear 
standards for effective 
communication with 
cyp and families – in 
person, in writing and 
also through website 
 

Standards drafted and 
consulted on. Continuing 
system for parental contact 
in place 
 
Survey parents to check 
progress. 

MP 9/06  

  Consultation 
system in place for 
cyp and families 
with clear 
standards and 
requirements in 
place 

2) Disability workshops 
to be arranged with 
support of Council for 
Disabled Children 

Parents & Carers views 
recorded & checked out 
regularly - 6/12 audits 
 
Dates of meetings – Sept / 
Oct 

MP 10/06 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 5
8



 

09/06/2006 

19

JAR 
recommendation 

JAR 
timescale 

Outcomes/ 
Key requirement 

Action 
Milestones 

Success 
Criteria 

Lead Due 
date 

On 
track? 

ECM OUTCOME BE HEALTHY 
 

14. Improve access 
to hospital in-patient 
provision to meet 

children and young 
people’s mental 

health needs (tier 4 
CAMHS)  
 
 
 

June 2006 - Enhanced access 
to Tier 4 services. 
 
 

1) Regional review of 
needs for Tier 4 
service, recent 
patterns. 

 

Needs analysis completed 
for the region.  
 
 
Clear criteria for nature and 
scale of commissioning 
 

 

SD 2/06 
 
 
 

6/06 

 

   2) Regional PFI bid 
 

Plan in place. Bid submitted SD 2/06  

  A range of acute 
service provision in 
place locally 

3) Local review of all 
tiers of provision 

Commissioning criteria in 
place. Link with Joint 
Agency meeting process.  
 

SD 9/06  

 
 
 

  4. Consult with cyp and 
families, plan and 
provide 

Survey views and respond 
to these. 
 

SD 12/06  
 

 

JAR 
recommendation 

JAR 
timescale 

Outcomes/ 
Key requirement 

Action 
Milestones 

Success 
Criteria 

Lead Due 
date 

On 
track? 

ACHIEVE ECONOMIC WELL-BEING 
 

16. Improve Housing 

provision for both 
single young people 

and families 

June – Dec 
06  

Care Leavers are 
provided with 
access to 
appropriate 

1) Identify £500,000 
capital for single-
person accommodation 
for vulnerable young 

6-10 units of additional 
accommodation for care 
leavers off the open market.  
An additional 2 self-

RG 6/06  

5
9



 

09/06/2006 

20

accommodation  
 

people and care leavers 
 

contained flats are being 
provided in partnership with 
a local housing association. 
Monitor PI SC5026. 
 

   2) Children’s social care 
represented on 
commissioning and 
operational groups for 
Supporting People 

Attendance and influence on 
agenda.  
PI % of Care Leavers at age 
19 years living in suitable 
accommodation 

RG 
LM 

  

  A range of 
appropriate 
housing is 
available for the 
most vulnerable 
cyp and families 
 

2) Protocol between 
housing providers and 
children’s social care re 
handling of CYP and 
families and 
homelessness where 
tenancy / housing is at 
risk 

Protocol in place and 
working & reviewed 
quarterly 
 
Affordable housing targets 

RG 
LM 
 

6/06  

  Wherever possible 
homelessness is 
prevented  
 

3) The Council to bring 
homelessness and 
Housing Advice 
Services back in-house 
with focus on 
prevention including 
family mediation and a 
Safe Moves Project.   
 

Improved further preventive 
information and advice 
service. 
 
Reduced numbers of 
homeless. 
 

Corporate reporting of 
strategic PIs - Use of B&B 
 

RG 4/06  

6
0



 

09/06/2006 

21

JAR 
recommendation 

JAR 
timescale 

Outcomes/ 
Key requirement 

Action 
Milestones 

Success 
Criteria 

Lead Due 
date 

On 
track? 

SERVICE MANAGEMENT 
 

12. Improve action 
planning to deliver 

strategic aims and 
objectives and, in 
particular, ensure 

that associated 
resourcing needs are 

met 
 

June 2006- 5 Year Guidance 
on Joint Planning 
and 
Commissioning 
adopted as local 
system 
 

1) Produce CYP Plan 
linked to LAA 

 

CYP Plan published 
 

LS 4/06  

  Effective focus on 
delivery of best 
possible outcomes 
for all children and 
young people 
through joint 
working with CYP’s 
Partnership Board 

2) Partnership to have 
workshop on 
governance and adopt 
Joint Planning and 
Commissioning 
Framework (DfES et al) 
(July 06) 

Clear governance and 
accountability arrangements  
 
JP & C Policy adopted and in 
place 
 
 

 

SF 7/06  

  CYP’s Plan and 
needs analysis 
completed drive 
commissioning and 
development of 
services 
 

3) CYP’s Plan Forward 
delivery Action Plan to 
provide overarching 
strategic framework for 
all other plans 

 LS 6/06  

6
1



 

09/06/2006 

22

  VSC is fully 
engaged in 
partnership 
working 

4) To work with VSC 
through The Alliance on 
ensuring active 
engagement 

VCS reps on CYPP’s Board. 
 
VSC involved in all aspects 
of commissioning 

LH 11/06  

  Resources and 
Capacity for 
delivery of 
children’s services 
across all agencies 
is transparent and 
clear.  

5) Partners to identify 
all resources for 
children in the area and 
to consider options for 
joint funding single or 
pooled funding 
arrangements.  
 

List of all resources 
available. 
 
Progress on joint 
commissioning & pooling. % 
Increase in activity. 
 

SF 
 

CYPP 

9/06  

   6) This information to 
feed into refresh and 
update of CYP Plan in 
Autumn 2006 
 

Revised and updated CYP’s 
Plan. 

SF 11/06  

SERVICE MANAGEMENT 
 

13. Improve 
information systems 
within the LA’s social 

care services to 
enable better 

management 
oversight and 

evaluation of service 
effectiveness 
 

June –Dec 
06 

 1) Ensure that social 
care information needs 
are identified with and 
managed within 
Herefordshire Connects 

including review and 
specification as an 
urgent issue – for sign 
up by July 06 
 

Improved data quality. 
 

Whole system approach in 
place – linking to council-
wide system 

GS 
 
JH 

7/06  

   2) To seek external Workshops held with GS 6/06  

6
2



 

09/06/2006 

23

advice on system 
requirements to ensure 
that new ICT systems 
will met children’s 
services requirements. 
 

managers. Requirements 
explored and specified. 
Informed decisions. 

   3) Children’s Services 
to contribute to 
specification, design 
and implementation of 
new systems  
 

Clear specification in place 
identifying children’s 
services needs – incl. ICS 
and CAF. 

GS 7/06  

   4) Interim system 
Performance 
Management 
arrangements to be put 
in place – file audits 
including Climbié, 
supervision recording, 
and collation of 
information re referrals, 
assessments and 
disposals on a monthly 
basis. 
 

Data quality audits in place 
monthly. 
 
PIs on assessment rates and 
timeliness of assessments. 
 
QV P30 –32 for more on 
performance management 
arrangements and reporting. 
 
Internal audit sampling and 
audited regularly. 

LM 
RT 

5/06  

SERVICE MANAGEMENT 
 

15. Improve co-
ordination of 

consultation with 
children and young 
people to support 

June –Dec 
06 

 1) Ensure effective co-
ordination of all 
consultations with cyp 
through Herefordshire 
Partnership adviser 

Liaison system in place to 
ensure this happens 
 
Maintain local timetable for 
activities. 

JR 6/06  

6
3



 

09/06/2006 

24

their participation in 
strategic planning 

and review 
 

 

  Clear system in 
place for the co-
ordination of all 
participation and 
involvement. 

2) To produce and 
develop a framework 
for the involvement of 
all cyp and families.  
 

Framework in place. 
 
Review every 6/12 to ensure 
implementation effective. 

JR 9/06  

  CYP’s views are 
represented to 
CYP’s Partnership. 

3) To set up Shadow 
CYP’s Partnership Board 
 

Shadow Board meeting and 
reps attending /influencing 
CYPP Board by March 06 
 
Audit minutes 6/12 to 
assess effectiveness of 
involvement. 
 

LS 3/06  

   4) To involve parents 
and carers in CYP’s 
Partnership Board 
 

Parent reps attending CYP’s 
Board 

SF 12/06  

  Inclusion of CLA in 
Youth Council. 

5) C& YP’s Youth 
Council to be enhanced 
with engagement of 
relevant LAC 
 

LAC engaged. 
 
Monitor no of attendances 
quarterly. 

JR 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3/06  

  Consistent 
participation and 

6) To adopt and 
implement Hear by 

Monitor use of standard – 
nos using process to be 

JR 10/06  

6
4



 

09/06/2006 

25

advocacy system 
in place. 

Rights Standard 
 

monitored. 

  Accessible 
information about 
services available 
to children, young 
people and 
families. 

7) To enhance 
Children’s service 
Directory to ensure it is 
easily accessible and 
able to be used by cyp 
and families. 
 

Directory published. 
 
Survey uptake. 

BT 12/06  

SERVICE MANAGEMENT 
 

17. Strengthen 
performance 

management 
processes involving 

elected members and 
senior officers at all 
levels, including the 

Partnership Board 
and the LA’s 

Children’ Scrutiny 
Committee 
 

June –Dec 
06 

Comprehensive 
outcome based 
performance 
system in place for 
children’s services 

1) To draw up 
performance 
management system 
for the Children’s 
Services, which can 
deliver the 
requirements of DfES 
Children’s Services 
Improvement Cycle and 
fit with the Council’s 
Performance 
Improvement Cycle. 
 

System documented 
including monitoring 
system. 
 
Regular data set available to 
track progress monthly. 

SF 
 
GS 

9/06  

   2) Ensure regular 
performance reports to 
Lead Member, Scrutiny 
Committee and Cabinet 
 

System in place and 
operating: Quarterly 
outcome performance 
available. QV P31. 

SF 
 
GS 

6/06  

6
5



 

09/06/2006 

26

   3) To agree governance 
and accountability 
arrangements for CYP’s 
Partnership Board 
including responsibility 
for performance 
monitoring of Forward 
Delivery Plan for CYP’s 
Plan. 

TORs and governance of 
CYPP Board delivered and 
agreed. 
 
 
 
Forward D Plan issued and 
being monitored 
 
 

SF 
 
 
 
 
 
LS 

9/06 
 
 
 
 
 

6/06 

 

   4) CYP’s Partnership to 
agree on process for 
monitoring progress on 
CFC, delivery of CYP’s 
Plan. 

All partners involved in 
designing and delivering FD 
Plan 
 
Quarterly monitoring on 
outcomes in place. 

SF 
GS 

9/06  

6
6



 

09/06/2006 

27

 

APPENDIX 1

LINKAGE of JAR IMPROV EM ENT PLAN TO CHANGE FOR 
CHILDREN REQUIREM ENTS

CYP INVOLVEMENT

REC 11 & 15 Invol vement 

of children, young people, 
parents and families in 
planning 7 commissioning

FRONT LINE 
DELIVERY

CW D /LDD/CLA

REC 7,8,9,10, 11, 14

Disability services and 
CAMHs

FRONT LINE DELIVERY

REC 1, 2, 4, 5 & 6 Duty SW 
changes; Revisions to CCM; 

work on designing updated 
CAF / CCM model; Pilot in S 
Wye: Data & Performance 

Management  Improvement.

PLANNING & COMM’ING

REC 3, 11, 12, 16 Children 

& Young People’s Plan.  To 
develop  wor kforce 
strategies and joint planning 

and commissioning; 
Housing strategy

GOVERNANCE & 
ACCOUNTABILITY

REC 13, 17: DCS and LM 
in place. Governance& Acc. 

arrangements of CYP’s 
P’ship to be developed

Outcomes
for children & 

young people

Outcomes
for children & 

young people

 

6
7



 

09/06/2006 

28

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

APPENDIX 2 

The relationship of the JAR action plan to other plans 

 

6
8



 

09/06/2006 

29

Appendix 2 (cont) 
Relationship to Other Plans 
 
There are explicit links to the Council’s priorities, including its shared 
priorities with partners within the Children and Young People’s Plan and 
the wider Herefordshire Community Strategy. Individual partners are 
taking forward specific actions.  For example relevant key 
recommendations are being led by the PCT to meet the requirements of 
the National Service Framework.   
 
In addition to the handling of the formal recommendations from the Joint 
Area Review, the Council and its partners are addressing other concerns 
outlined in the JAR Report through the priorities set for action within the 
Children and Young People’s Plan and its Forward Delivery Plan.  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

69



 

09/06/2006 

30

APPENDIX 3 
Performance management of the JAR Performance 

Improvement Action Plan – 1. The Context 
 
Tracking of progress against each outcome is detailed in the plan. In 
addition, a system of file audit, practice audit, and peer audit has been 
introduced to measure the quality and robustness of improved practices. 
This is supported by a range of measures including appraisal(SRD), skills 
and competency audits (within the Workforce Strategy), peer reviews, 
benchmarking against other authorities and the appointment of a 
responsible Head of Service and the introduction of an overall 
Performance Lead within Children’s Services. 
 
These arrangements are set within the overarching performance 
management and monitoring arrangements for the Council and for the 
Children & Young People’s Partnership. In addition, the Council’s 
Children’s Services Performance management, planning and 
commissioning arrangements will link directly to DfES national 
requirements as set out in the Improvement Cycle. 

The Council, working with key partners, is responsible and accountable for 
this revised draft Action Plan.  Its development and performance 
management involves not only the Council but also its partners on the 

The 
Outcomes 
Framework

Priorities
Conversation

Planning 
Guidance

Annual 
Assessments 

& CPA

Field-Force 
Support/Central 
Engagement &       
Intervention

Central 

Local

70



 

09/06/2006 

31

Children and Young People’s Partnership Board (CYPPB) and, in respect of 
staying safe, the Local Safeguarding Children Board (LSCB). 
 
The arrangements are as follows: 
 
Within the Council 
 
This JAR Action Plan has been drawn up under the direction of the Director 
of Children’s Services (DCS).  It is subject to the approval of the Chief 
Executive (CX), the lead Cabinet member for Children’s Services and the 
Leader of the Council.  The full Cabinet will endorse it. 
 
The Director is supported in her performance management of the Plan by 
a small JAR Action Plan Group. The Group members are the Interim Senior 
Children’s Service Manager, the three Heads of Children’s Services, a 
senior manager from the Primary Care Trust, a member of the Children’s 
Services Change Team and, to provide challenge and links with the 
Council’s Overall Performance Improvement Action Plan, the Council’s 
Corporate Policy and Research Manager.    
 
The Action Plan Group meets fortnightly to review progress against the 
Plan, on the basis of a written report.   
 

• The DCS receives detailed progress reports against the plan weekly  
• The JAR Improvement Action Plan Group (IAPG) supports the DCS 

at a fortnightly meeting. The group includes Heads of Children’s 
Services, the PCT, the Council’s Corporate Policy lead on the PIAP, 
and a member of the Departmental Change for Children Team 

• A minute from the IAPG is sent to the CE, Lead Cabinet member 
and the Leader 

• The CE and Lead member to join the IAPG meeting monthly (from 
June 06) 

• Formal reports are made monthly to Cabinet and Scrutiny 
• Critical Milestones in the JAR Plan are included in the PIAP which is 

monitored regularly by Cabinet and the Corporate Management 
Board and Strategic Committee 

• Reports on implementation progress are brought to the IAPG by 
those responsible for each milestone area – this includes Service 
Managers and may include Team Managers (from June 06) 

 
Formal reports on progress against the Plan are made to the Cabinet and 
the Corporate Management Board; the latter is chaired by the CX.  
Progress reports are also made to each meeting of the Children’s Services 
Scrutiny Committee. 
 
Critical milestones in the revised Plan are included in the Council’s Overall 
Performance Improvement Plan (as will the targets for improved 
outcomes for children within the JAR Action Plan), performance against 
which will also be subject to regular monitoring by the Cabinet, the 
Corporate Management Board and the Strategic Monitoring Committee. 

71



 

09/06/2006 

32

 
The Council and its partners 

 
The JAR Action Plan has been drawn up with the Council’s key partner 
organisations: the PCT, the Police and the voluntary sector.  The CYPPB 
endorses the revised Plan. 
The CYPPB has an overall responsibility for oversight of the Plan’s delivery.  
In conjunction with the CYPP, the Local Safeguarding Children Board 
oversees delivery of those elements of the Plan that are aimed to ensure 
fully adequate arrangements for safeguarding.  
 

Performance Managing and Monitoring the JAR action plan - 

2 Management & Monitoring of the delivery of the JAR Plan 

 
At operational level within social care a process of managerial file 
review/audit has been implemented focussing not just on process but also 
on quality of decision-making.  A detailed audit of files has been 
commissioned in order to ensure that data is both accurate and complete 
to ensure that a sound base is used for setting targets and monitoring 
performance.  The new Directorate structure contains a dedicated 
Performance Management function, which will ensure that progress is 
regularly reviewed and maintained.  
    
Evidencing Improvement and audit trail 
 
A comprehensive record is being maintained by the Council to document 
that effective action has been taken to implement the action plan 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

72



 

09/06/2006 

33

 
Relevant Performance Indicators 
 
In relation to Recommendations 1, 2, 4, 5, 6, the following 

performance Indicators will be used as proxies of success. 
     

 
 
In relation to Recommendation 7 the following performance Indicators 
will be used as proxies of success. 
 
No of 
PI 

 
PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT 

Current 
Position 
March 06 

Target 
Positio
n 

March 
07 

C19 Health Assessments of Children Looked After on 
time 

 
90.7 

 
93 

 
In relation to Recommendations 8, 9, 10 and 11 the following 
performance Indicators will be used as proxies of success. 
 
No of 
PI 

 
PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT 

Current 
Position 
March 06 

Target 
Position 
March 

07 

Local 
PI OT 

% Of referred children assessed to OT services 
within 12 weeks 

100% 100% 
 

No of 
PI 

 
PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT 

Current 
Position 

March 06 

Target 
Position 

March 
07 

 

CH 
141 

Referrals of children in need per 10,000  
population aged under 18  
 

 
175 

 
220 

CH 
143 

% referrals of children in need leading 
 to initial assessments 
 

 
49 

 
65 

DIS 
1704 

% of Initial assessments completed with 7 days 70.1 75 

CH 
145 

Number of core assessments of children in need  
per 10,000 population under 18 

 
32.5 

 
45 

CF/ 
C64 

No of Core Assessments completed within 35 
days 

76 80 

CH 
01 

 Number of children on child protection register  
per 10,000 population under 18 

 
16.8 

 
17 

73



 

09/06/2006 

34

SC 
5026 

% Of children with disabilities aged 14+ who 
had a transition plan to support their move from 
Children’s to Adults’ Services 

Up to 50% Up to 
75% 

In relation to Recommendation 16 the following performance Indicators 
will be used as proxies of success. 
 
No of 
PI 

 
PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT 

Current 
Position 
March 06 

Target 
Positio
n 

March 
07 

SC 
5037 

% of Care Leavers at age 19 years living in 
suitable accommodation 
(No of Young People) 

89.5% 
 
(19/20) 

100% 

74



 

09/06/2006 

35

Appendix 4 
Additional capacity already identified to deliver 

 
The restructuring of Children’s Services within the Council has enabled the 
identification of additional capacity. A new Head of Service for 
commissioning and Performance Improvement was appointed in March 
2006 focusing on the service management recommendations. In addition, 
since April, a senior manager with change management experience has 
been working with the Council. a project manger for the JAR Plan is to be 
been identified to ensure that the Plan is delivered June 06). 
 

Other additional capacity for the recommendations: 
 
Staying Safe  

� Seconded Service Manager and Interim Senior Manager 
� Support with social care recruitment and strategy from central 

recruitment team & Tribal 
� Additional resources for training CCM consultants from the PCT 
� Additional £149k for safeguarding and operation of LSCB 

Being Healthy 
� Support from PCT 
� Additional funding for extra OT posts (3) 
� Workshop and support from National children’s Bureau on Healthy 

Care Standards for CLA 
� LDD and CWDs developments – Council for Disabled Children for 

challenge and support 
� Additional funding of £70k for commissioning family support 

Achieving Economic Well-being 

� Information and advice services for homelessness brought back in 
house 

� Additional funds of £500k used to purchase additional housing for 
care leavers 

Service Management 

� Corporate support and challenge from the Head of Policy 
� Advice and training on performance management and data 

management from the Institute of Public Care 
 
Promoting Change and Improvement 

� Funding has been earmarked to commission the Office for Public 
Management to facilitate with local senior managers a series of 
workshops across the county on Championing Children (ECM) from 
July to December 2006 

 

� Support and expertise from AW, ISM – from April 06 
� Link with other Local Areas e.g. Gloucestershire, Poole on 

implementation – June 06 
 
 

 

75



 

09/06/2006 

36

Appendix 5 
Key achievements to date 

 
• Further development of the existing Child Concern Model to redefine 

and widen the criteria for social work involvement (Recommendation 
JAR Report (REC) 1) 
 

• Publication and dissemination of a new leaflet for all those working 
with children to explain the changed criteria: £3,500 distributed 
(REC 2) 
 

• New initiatives to ensure all vacant posts are covered and to improve 
social worker recruitment – immediate work with agencies and contract 
with Tribal for a national and regional recruitment campaign has 
enabled new temporary and permanent staff to be recruited  (REC 3) 
 

• Appointment of a manager to lead regular independent professional 
scrutiny and analysis of children’s social work (REC 1,2,4 and 17) 
 

• Successful bid for consultancy support from the Children’s Workforce 
Development Council and strategy in development – workshop to be 
held 22nd June 06. (REC 3) 
 

• Additional resources – corporate contingency budget across all social 
care services £1.3m, funding for the JAR Improvement Plan – £100k, 
LSCB funding £149k and additional preventative service funding of 
£70k already identified within the Council and also by partners (REC 
12).  Three additional OTs appointed to improve access to service. 
(REC 8) 
 

• Funding bid made to DH for improved access to multi-agency tier 4 
provision (REC 14) 
 

• Shadow CYP’s Partnership Board established to improve consultation 

with and involvement of children and young people (REC 15): Youth 

Council established. 

 

• Support commissioned from Institute of Public Care on performance 

management and social care data requirements: workshops and 

training for managers REC 13,17 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

76



 

09/06/2006 

37

Appendix 6 
Summary of remaining tasks  

 
• Adopting an enhanced strategic approach to delivering all of the 

Change for Children Programme in Herefordshire across all agencies to 
maximise the efficiency of the delivery of this Plan and the overarching 
Children and Young People’s Plan. (REC 12) 

- Development and delivery of a change programme for all of 
children’s services in the local area – Office of Public 
Management commissioned to assist. 
- As part of this change programme, to equip all managers at all 
levels with a sound understanding of the principles and practice 
of effective single and joint planning and commissioning of 
children’s services, modelling this on the national children’s 
services improvement cycle – Institute of Public Care 
supporting. 

• To implement a developed and coherent performance management 
system and approach which operates seamlessly across all levels of 
children’s services and is part of the whole Council approach as well as 
linking with the outcome performance function of the CYP’s 
partnership: so that performance improvement is seen as everybody’s 
business (REC: 17) – Institute of Public care assisting. 

• To ensure that data collation and handling in children’s social care and 
across the whole of children’s services is effective and that the data 
collected is robust, accurate and timely, so as to provide a sound basis 
for planning, target setting and effective performance management 
(REC 13, 17) 

• Recruiting and retaining permanent social work staff to vacancies – 
further work required through Workforce Strategy with CWDC support 
(REC 3) 

• Directing resources and capacity to ensure full delivery of the Plan and 
for the CYP’s Plan (REC 12) 

• Full implementation of Hear by Rights standards and Voice of the Child 
through a designated lead linking with the Shadow Children & Young 
People’s Partnership Board (REC 11,15) 

• Transformation of the existing Child Concern Model to develop 
Herefordshire’s Common Assessment framework to meet additional 
national requirements (REC 5,6) whilst changing ways of working and 
improving working relationships across agencies to provide greater 
clarity of roles and responsibilities (REC 5,6,12). 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

77



 

09/06/2006 

38

APPENDIX 7 

Communication, management and staff development for 

ownership and delivery of the actions 
 

JAR and CFC Updates 
Staff and managers are being provided with regular updates on the 
progress of delivery on the JAR recommendations through bi-monthly 
briefing sessions and the monthly children’s services newsletter. 
 
The progress on the JAR Plan will be further reinforced with staff and 
managers across all agencies through local road shows to be set up July-
December 2006. These road shows are being commissioned from the 
Office of Public Management to cover the whole children’s agenda in 
Herefordshire. They will include: 
 

� Further rollout of the change for children programme using DfES’s 
Championing Children initiative 

� Coverage of themes from the JAR recommendations – notably: 
- addressing the needs of children with additional needs and 
common processes Recs 1,2 & 5 and 6,  
- engagement with children, young people and families Rec 15 

� And, developing joint working and the capacity for integrated 
working across professional groups and agencies. 

 

Other workshops will be organised during the summer and autumn to 
develop staff and to take forward other JAR recommendations. These 
include: 

• 22nd June Workforce Strategy Event with CWDC Rec 3 
• 27th June National Healthy Care Standards Workshop with NCB 

(with 2 follow up days to be arranged) Rec 7 
• July-October 06 Change for Children Workshops by OPM across the 

County 
• Autumn 06 Performance Management training sessions for staff and 

managers run by IPC – possibly to be certificated (dates to be 
confirmed) Rec 17 

• Sept-Dec 06 Disability workshops for staff and consultations vents 
with parents – assisted by Council for Disabled Children Recs 8,9, 
10,11 

 
Corporate Improvement and Herefordshire Connects 
Staff briefings and presentations on the Corporate Improvement 
programme – Herefordshire Connects will also be used to demonstrate the 
linkages across the whole Council’s agenda for improvement. These 
workshops are starting in May 2006 for all staff and will run across the 
year on a bimonthly basis. 

 

 
 

 

78



 

09/06/2006 

39

Appendix 8 
Risk log for the Plan’s delivery. 
 
Following the disappointment of the JAR outcome, the Council with its 
partners has made rapid progress in effectively addressing the 
requirements of the JAR recommendations. Half way through the required 
improvement period, there are still improvements to be made but the 
Council is confident that it will continue to make rapid progress over the 
next few months. 
 
The list, which follows highlights some issues which still require vigilance 
and which may require contingency planning, and responses if the current 
positive trajectory is to be maintained. The Council is clear that it needs to 
be alert to any possible barriers to progress and delivering the best 
possible outcomes for children and young people in the area. 
 
1. RISK: Recruitment of social work staff continues to be difficult. 

RESPONSE/CONTINGENCY – pursue all possible agency and temporary 
options. Workforce strategy to review and innovate in relation to all 
possible retention and recruitment options.  
The Council is confident that this risk can be managed. 

 
2. RISK: Insufficient capacity and expertise to deliver improved 

performance management arrangements. 
RESPONSE/CONTINGENCY: Recruit to children’s services performance 
post (July 06), train and challenge staff with support from Institute of 
Public management – offer in-house performance management 
certificate course - and benchmarking exercises with high performing 
LAs / IPC network (Sept 06-). 
 
The Council is confident that this risk can be managed. 

3. RISK: Additional resource requirements for delivering improvements 
may not be fully delivered. 
RESPONSE/CONTINGENCY: Additional funding ha sbeen identified for 
children’s services improvements and these finds are being committed 
as required e.g. Funding of LSCB posts, commissioning of CFC 
workshops from OPM. 
The Council is confident that this risk can be managed. 
 

4. RISK: Partners are distracted by their own single agency agendas e.g. 
PCT financial position 
RESPONSE/CONTINGENCY: Strengthen governance arrangements of 
CYP’s Partnership including its performance management of delivery on 
the five outcomes.(Workshop July 06)  
The Council and its partners are committed to ensuring that 
improvements in children’s services are delivered.  

 

79



 

09/06/2006 

40

APPENDIX 9 
 

Members of the Children & Young People’s Partnership 
 

 
 

This plan is an integral part of what is being achieved in partnership to 
improve outcomes for children, young people and their families in 
Herefordshire. Key partner agencies are represented in their commitment 
to this plan by: - 
 

 
 

Barham, Keith Youth Offending Service 
Bentley,Kevin West Mercia Police 
Blundell, Alan ablundell@herefordshire.gov.uk 
Cllr Don Rule  dwrule@herefordshire.gov.uk 
Cosgrove,Patrick patrick.cosgrove@lsc.gov.uk 
Dave Llewellin  david.llewellin@westmercia.pnn.police.uk 
Fiennes, Sue  sfiennes@herefordshire.gov.uk 
Frances Howie  frances.howie@herefordpct.nhs.uk 
Gibbons, Sharon sharon.gibbons@westmercia.pnn.police.uk 
Hairsnape,Simon simon.hairsnape@herefordpct.nhs.uk 
Heath, Anne  aheath@herefordshire.gov.uk 
Helen Horton helenhorton@allianceherefordshire.org.uk 
Ian Tait   ian.tait@nhs.net 
Jill Hiscox   homestart.hereford@virgin.net 
Joanna Bruce  jo.bruce@talk21.com 
Lewis, Henry  hlewis@herefordshire.gov.uk 
McGilp,Euan  emcgilp@st-martins.hereford.sch.uk 
Paul Baker   Paul.Baker@west-mercia.probation.gsi.gov.uk 
Paul Bates   paul.bates@herefordpct.nhs.uk 
Peter Harper  peter.harper@hhtr.nhs.uk 
Powell,Ivan  ivan.powell@westmercia.pnn.police.uk 
Roger Little   rlittle@connexions-hw.org.uk 
Sally Stucke  sally.stucke@herefordpct.nhs.uk 
Selfe, Lorna  lselfe@herefordshire.gov.uk 
Sharon Gray  sharon.gray@lsc.gov.uk 
Sheppard,John shughes@haywood-high.hereford.sch.uk 
Sian Bailey   admin@blackmarston.hereford.sch.uk 
Sue Doheny   sue.doheny@herefordpct.nhs.uk 
Turner,Mark  mark.turner@westmercia.pnn.police 

80



CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 19TH JUNE, 2006 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Sue Fiennes, Director of Children's Services on 
01432 260039 

 
190606THEEFFECTOFHOMELESSNESSOFYOUNGPEOPLEINHEREFORDSHRIE0.doc  

 THE EFFECT OF HOMELESSNESS OF YOUNG 
PEOPLE IN HEREFORDSHIRE 

Report By: SUE FIENNES, DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN'S 
SERVICES 

 

Wards Affected 

 County-wide 

Purpose 

1. To advise on the work-in-progress to improve the experience of young people and 
families requiring suitable housing. 

Financial Implications 

2. The resources available to provide suitable housing are stretched.  Council capital 
and revenue resources are being targeted to improve the position and prevent 
homelessness.  The Supporting People programme of housing support is also being 
prioritised to assist. 

Considerations 

3. An important issue for young people in Herefordshire is the lack of affordable housing 
and associated homelessness. Average house prices within the County, associated 
with national market trends and inward migration of older affluent households, have 
continued to rise at a faster rate than regional and national house price averages and 
local wage levels. 

4. Homelessness in Herefordshire has therefore been rising at an alarming rate leading 
to an increasing reliance on the use of temporary accommodation including Bed and 
Breakfast accommodation both for young people and families with children. Similarly, 
move-on opportunities for vulnerable young people including Care Leavers have 
been limited thereby compromising the Council’s ability to ensure the best possible 
housing outcomes for children in all instances. This theme was reflected in the Joint 
Area Review Report, leading to an associated recommendation around improving 
access to housing for young people and families. 

5. Whilst national housing market and economic trends will continue to limit the ability of 
local authorities to respond to the challenge of providing sufficient affordable housing, 
progress in tackling the levels of homelessness in Herefordshire has been dramatic 
in recent months. Furthermore, a great deal is being done to improve the housing 
chances of vulnerable young people and families with children in responding to the 
specific challenges identified within the JAR. 

6. Homelessness and Housing Advice Services returned in-house from contracted-out 
arrangements in April 2006 and an associated shift in focus towards homelessness 
prevention has lead to a reduction in homelessness application levels and a 
reduction in the number of cases where a full homelessness duty was accepted. 
Indeed, the employment of prevention officers prior to April 1st 2006 led to the 

AGENDA ITEM 8

81



CHILDREN'S SERVICES SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 19TH JUNE, 2006 
 

Further information on the subject of this report is available from Sue Fiennes, Director of Children's Services on 
01432 260039 

 
190606THEEFFECTOFHOMELESSNESSOFYOUNGPEOPLEINHEREFORDSHRIE0.doc  

number of homelessness acceptance levels dropping from and out-turn of 510 in 
04/05 to 416 in 05/06. 

7. Associated with this trend, the number of families occupying temporary Bed and 
Breakfast accommodation has fallen from a high of 55 in January 2006 to 30 at the 
end of May 2006. 

8. There remains a shortage of single-person accommodation within the County and it 
is estimated that the average length of stay in temporary accommodation for young 
people is twice that of adults and families. However, a great deal is being done to 
improve the housing opportunities of vulnerable young people, including Care 
Leavers, much of which is reflected within the JAR Performance Improvement Action 
Plan and some of which started before the review.  

• Home Point allocation policies now enable Priority Status to be given to Care 
Leavers at the earliest possible stage thereby improving re-housing chances 
upon leaving care. 

• Mediation Services have been developed to help tackle the issue of parental 
evictions leading to young homelessness. Out of 13 cases referred to mediation 
services, 9 have led to young people being kept out of Bed and Breakfast 
accommodation. 

• A new Social Housing Agreement has been drafted which emphasises the need 
for single-person accommodation to be prioritised within new affordable housing 
development commissioned by Strategic Housing 

• £500k Capital investment has led to the purchase of 4 houses for young people 
leaving care in partnership between Childrens Services, Strategic Housing and a 
local Registered Social Landlord. 

• A further 2 units of accommodation are to be provided through conversion works 
under a partnership between a local Registered Social Landlord and Strategic 
Housing. Plans are also in development to create 4 accommodation units through 
the conversion of a former hostel to provide housing for vulnerable young people 
aligned with housing-related support services from the Supported Housing for 
Young Persons Project (SHYPP). 

• Floating support services to Care Leavers and other vulnerable young people are 
being expanded through additional funding from the Supporting People 
programme. 

• Protocols are currently under development to enable improved co-operation 
between Childrens Services and housing  providers regarding the handling of 
families and young people where a tenancy or housing is at risk.  

RECOMMENDATION 

THAT Committee note the report and advise on any further information 
required which would build on the scrutiny review by Adult 
Social Care and Strategic Housing and the Joint Area Review 
Improvement reporting. 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
None identified. 

82


